

Universitat de les Illes Balears

DOCTORAL THESIS

2021

WHO EATS WHO IN THE WORLD OF BLUEFIN TUNA THUNNUS THYNNUS

DANIEL OTTMANN RIERA







Universitat de les Illes Balears

Instituto Español de Oceanografía

University of Bergen

DOCTORAL THESIS 2021

Doctoral Programme in Marine Ecology

WHO EATS WHO IN THE WORLD OF BLUEFIN TUNA THUNNUS THYNNUS

DANIEL OTTMANN RIERA

Thesis Supervisor: Patricia Reglero Baron Thesis Supervisor: Øyvind Fiksen Thesis Supervisor: Francisco Javier Alemany Llodrà Thesis Tutor: Guillem Mateu Vicens

Doctor by the Universitat de les Illes Balears

Signatures of the doctoral candidate, thesis directors and academic advisor:

WHO EATS WHO IN THE WORLD OF BLUEFIN TUNA THUNNUS THYNNUS

Doctoral thesis completed by Daniel Ottmann fulfilling the requirements for the doctoral degree of the Marine Ecology Doctoral Programme of the *Universitat de les Illes Balears*

Daniel Ottmann

Doctoral candidate

Dr. Patricia Reglero

Thesis director

Dr. Øyvind Fiksen

Thesis director

Dr. Francisco Alemany

Thesis director

Dr. Guillem Mateu

Academic advisro

Thesis format

This work is a compilation of the following research papers:

Ottmann D, Álvarez-Berastegui D, Prieto L, Balbín R, Alemany F, Ø Fiksen, Gordoa A, Reglero P (2021) Abundance of *Pelagia noctiluca* early life stages in the western Mediterranean Sea scales with surface chlorophyll. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 658:75– 88. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13423</u>

JCR impact factor in 2021: 2.824

Category and quartile: Ecology (Q2); Marine & Freshwater Biology (Q1); Oceanography (Q2)

Ottmann D, Leyva L, Reglero P, Prieto L, Alvarez I. 2021. Ephyrae and metaephyrae of *Pelagia noctiluca*: stage determination, morphometry, and shrinkage. J Plankt Res. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbab060</u>

JCR impact factor in 2021: 2.455 Category and quartile: Marine & Freshwater Biology (Q2); Oceanography (Q2)

Ottmann D, Fiksen Ø, Martín M, Alemany F, Prieto L, Álvarez-Berastegui D, Reglero P. 2021. Spawning distribution of bluefin tuna reduces jellyfish predation on early life stages. Limnol Ocean <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11908</u>

JCR impact factor in 2021: 4.745 Category and quartile: Limnology (Q1); Oceanography (Q1)

Ottmann D, Reglero P, Alemany F, Alvarez-Berastegui D, Martín M, Fiksen Ø (*in review*) Small fish eat smaller fish: a model of interaction strength in early life stages of two tuna species. Limnol Ocean Lett.

JCR impact factor in 2021: 7.875 Category and quartile: Limnology (Q1); Oceanography (Q1)

"Our planet is a blue planet"

David Attenborough

To my Dad, my Mum, and my Brother. To Eva.

Acknowledgements

My thesis builds up on top of two decades of research done by many passionate scientists. Without their legacy, I would not have been able to propose the hypotheses I test here. I thank the many people who helped me during my thesis work, including principal investigators, lab techs, boat crew, informatic technicians, admin assistants, journalists, artists, and janitors.

I want to express particular gratitude to my thesis directors Patri, Øyvind and Xisco for guiding me throughout my studies and helping me grow as a scientist, as well as my academic tutor Guillem for helping me navigate procedures at the university.

Finally, I want to thank my beloved ones – family, friends, and partner, for keeping me sane and enthusiastic throughout my thesis work.

Funding

This work has been co-founded by the European Union through the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF) within the National Program of collection, management and use of data in the fisheries sector and support for scientific advice regarding the Common Fisheries Policy (survey TUNIBAL), the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement No 773713 (project PANDORA), the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness under grant agreements CTM2011-29525-C04 (project ATAME) and CTM-2015-68473-R (project ECOLATUN), and the joined research initiative between the Spanish Institute of Oceanography and the Balearic Islands Coastal Observing and Forecasting System (project BLUEFIN). D.O. was supported by FPI Fellowship from Vicepresidència i Conselleria d'Innovació, Recerca i Turisme of the regional Government of the Balearic Islands co-financed by the 2014–2020 European Social Fund program and received travel awards from the EuroMarine Individual Fellowship Program, the Catedra del Mar of IBEROSTAR group, and the Research Council of Norway (project FILAMO).

Table of contents

Abstract		1
Resumen		3
Resúm		5
Acronyms		7
1. Introduction		9
2. Research goals		15
3. General methods		19
3.1. Analytical approach		21
3.2. Study area		21
3.3. Field sampling		23
3.4. Laboratory processing		25
3.5. Statistical modeling		26
3.6. Systems biology modeling		28
 Paper I - Abundance of <i>Pelagia noctiluca</i> early life stages in the western Mediterranean Sea scales with surface chlorophyll 		29
 Paper II - Ephyrae and metaephyrae of <i>Pelagia noctiluca</i>: stage determination, morphometry, and shrinkage 33 		
6. Paper III - Spawning site distribution of a bluefin tuna reduces jellyfish predat early life stages		ion on 37
7. Paper I - Small fish eat smaller fish: a model of interaction strength in early life		
	stages of two tuna species	41
8. Discussion		61
8.1.	Advancing knowledge	63
8.2.	New contributions	64
8.3.	Limitations of this study	66
8.4.	Future directions	66
9. Conclusions		69
10. General bibliography		73
Appendix 4.	Supplementary information to Paper IV	77

Abstract

Predator-prey interactions are important drivers of animal evolution and can shape their life history. Some species conduct large migrations to reproduce in areas with low density of predators where offspring have a greater chance to survive, but quantifying predator-prey interactions of marine migratory animals at meaningful population level is almost impossible using traditional observational methods.

In this thesis my collaborators and I combine field observations with biological modeling to evaluate predator-prey interactions of two tuna fishes and a jellyfish. We then speculate how their interaction strength may shape their life history. As study species we use the Atlantic bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus*, the Mediterranean albacore *Thunnus alalunga*, and the jellyfish *Pelagia noctiluca*. These species are relatively well studied, have ecological traits that turn them in good case studies, and are economically important.

Our study focusses on the early life stages of all three species, as they overlap in space and time and represent the life stage where most individuals die, mainly preyed by other animals. We start evaluating the distribution of *P. noctiluca* ephyrae and metaephyrae (early life stages) and the environmental factors favoring their presence and abundance in a major tuna spawning ground in the Western Mediterranean. We then classify them in developmental stages based on their size and feeding structures and model their predatory potential on egg and larval bluefin tuna in relation to their distribution. Similarly, we model the predatory potential of larval bluefin tuna on albacore based on their relative size and distribution in the spawning ground.

Our findings indicate that the abundance and distribution of early life stages of *P. noctiluca* are heavily influenced by temperature of the water column and primary productivity at the end of spring, which is greater in the northwest part of the study area, where surface water often depicts typical resident water, as opposed to the newly arrived Atlantic water streaming from the southwest. Those that have achieved the metaephyrae stage can prey on pre-flexion fish larvae (those that have not yet flexed the caudal tip of the notochord). Although metaephyrae are generally found in low abundances, occasionally high-density sites can remove most fish larvae before they reach the flexion stage (those that have started to flex the caudal tip of the notochord). However, bluefin tuna tend to spawn near or within the front of both water masses, where predators tend to be few. This suggests that by selecting spawning sites based on oceanographic signatures of the form, bluefin tuna could be preventing metaephyrae to unleash their full predatory potential.

When looking at the predator-prey interaction between bluefin tuna and albacore, we see that post-flexion larvae (those that have finished flexing the caudal tip of the notochord) can rapidly deplete smaller albacore, particularly first feeding ones that are too small to escape predator encounters. The probability that piscivorous bluefin tuna encounter albacore depends largely on the spawning distribution and timing of each species, which is characteristic for each species. Nonetheless, increasing abundances of bluefin tuna has risen their overall piscivorous pressure on larval albacore since 2001, and this pattern correlates with opposite trends in the population stock biomass of each species. This thesis covers knowledge gaps in the understanding of ecology and population dynamics of *P. noctiluca* and pioneers our understanding of how the strength of predator-prey interactions in tuna early life stages can influence their reproductive strategy.

Resumen

Las interacciones depredador-presa son motores de la evolución animal que pueden determinar su ciclo de vida. Algunas especies realizan grandes migraciones para reproducirse en áreas con pocos depredadores, donde la descendencia tiene mayores probabilidades de sobrevivir. Sin embargo, cuantificar las interacciones depredador-presa de los animales marinos a nivel de población es casi imposible utilizando métodos tradicionales de observación.

En esta tesis, mis colaboradores y yo combinamos observaciones de campo con modelos biológicos para evaluar las interacciones depredador-presa de dos especies de atún y una de medusa. Basándonos en estos resultados, especulamos sobre cómo esta interacción puede moldear su ciclo de vida. Como especies de estudio usamos el atún rojo Atlántico *Thunnus thynnus*, la albacora del Mediterráneo *Thunnus alalunga* y la medusa *Pelagia noctiluca*. Estas especies están relativamente bien estudiadas, tienen características ecológicas que las convierte en buenos ejemplos y son de interés económico.

Nuestro estudio se centra en las primeras etapas de vida de las tres especies, ya que se superponen en el espacio y tiempo y representan la etapa donde mueren la mayoría de los individuos, principalmente como presa de otros animales. Comenzamos evaluando la distribución de éfiras y metaéfiras (estadios tempranos de vida) de *P. noctiluca* y los factores ambientales que favorecen su presencia y abundancia en una zona clave para el desove de atún rojo y albacora en el Mediterráneo Occidental. Luego los clasificamos en etapas de desarrollo según su tamaño y estructuras de alimentación y modelamos su potencial como depredador de huevos y larvas de atún en función de su distribución. De manera similar, modelamos el potencial depredador de las larvas de atún rojo sobre las de albacora en función de su distribución y tamaño relativo.

Nuestros hallazgos indican que la abundancia y distribución de las etapas de vida tempranas de *P. noctiluca* están fuertemente influidas por la temperatura en la columna de agua y la productividad primaria al final de la primavera, que es mayor en la parte noroeste del área de estudio, donde el agua superficial suele ser residente (a diferencia del agua recién llegada desde el Atlántico). Concluimos que las medusas en estado de metaéfira o superior ya pueden alimentarse de larvas de peces en estado pre-flexion (aquellas que no han flexionado el extremo caudal de la notocorda). Por lo general las metaéfiras suelen ser escasas, pero ocasionalmente pueden ser suficientemente abundantes como para eliminar la mayoría de las larvas de peces antes de que estas alcancen la etapa de flexión (aquellas que han empezado a flexionar el extremo caudal de la notocorda). Sin embargo, el atún rojo tiende a desovar cerca o dentro del frente entre las masas de agua, donde los depredadores suelen ser más escasos. Esto sugiere que el atún rojo podría estar seleccionando sitios de desove basándose en señales oceanográficas del frente y así evitar que las metaéfiras ejerzan todo su potencial depredador sobre las larvas.

Al observar la interacción depredador-presa entre el atún rojo y la albacora, vemos que las larvas post-flexión (aquellas que ya han terminado de flexionar el extremo caudal de la notocorda) pueden depredar rápidamente larvas de albacora, en

particular las que son demasiado pequeñas como para escapar de los encuentros con los depredadores. La probabilidad de que larvas de atún rojo piscívoras se encuentre con la albacora depende en gran medida de la distribución de cada especie, así como de su momento de desove, el cual es característico para cada una. No obstante, la creciente abundancia de atún rojo ha incrementado su presión piscívora sobre las larvas de albacora desde 2001, y este patrón se correlaciona con tendencias opuestas en la biomasa de la población de cada especie.

Esta tesis cubre nociones clave para entender mejor la ecología y la dinámica poblacional de *P. noctiluca* y contribuye mejorar nuestro conocimiento sobre cómo las interacciones tróficas en etapas tempranas del atún influyen en su estrategia reproductiva.

Resúm

Les interaccions depredador-presa són motors importants de l'evolució animal que poden determinar el seu cicle de vida. Algunes espècies realitzen grans migracions per reproduir-se en àrees amb pocs depredadors, on la descendència té majors probabilitats de sobreviure. No obstant això, quantificar les interaccions depredadorpresa dels animals marins a nivell de població és pràcticament impossible utilitzant mètodes tradicionals d'observació.

En aquesta tesi, els meus col·laboradors i jo combinem observacions de camp amb models biològics per avaluar les interaccions depredador-presa de dues espècies de tonyina i una de grumer. Basant-nos en aquests resultats, especulem sobre com aquesta interacció pot moldejar el seu cicle de vida. Com a espècies d'estudi feim servir la tonyina vermella de s'Atlàntic *Thunnus thynnus*, s'albacora Mediterrània *Thunnus alalunga* i es grumer *Pelagia noctiluca*. Aquestes especies estan relativament ben estudiades, tenen característiques ecològiques que els converteix en bons exemples i son d'interès econòmic.

El nostre estudi se centra en les primeres etapes de vida de les tres espècies, ja que se superposen en espai i temps i representen l'etapa on mor la majoria d'individus, principalment com a presa d'altres animals. Comencem avaluant la distribució d'èfires i metaèfires (estadis primerencs de vida) *de P. noctiluca* i els factors ambientals que afavoreixen la seva presència i abundància en una zona clau per la posta de tonyina vermella i albacora a sa Mediterrània Occidental. Després els classifiquem en etapes de desenvolupament segons la seva grandària i estructures d'alimentació i modelem el seu potencial com a depredador d'ous i larves de tonyina en funció de la seva distribució. De manera similar, modelem el potencial depredador de les larves de tonyina vermella sobre les d'albacora en funció de la seva distribució i grandària relativa.

Els nostres descobriments indiquen que l'abundància i distribució de les etapes de vida primerenques de *P. noctiluca* estan fortament influïdes per la temperatura a la columna d'aigua i la productivitat primària finals de primavera, que és més gran a la part nord-oest de l'àrea d'estudi, on l'aigua superficial sol ser resident (a diferència de l'aigua recent arribada des de l'Atlàntic). Concloem que els grumer en estat de metaèfira o superior ja poden alimentar-se de larves de peixos en estat pre-flexió (aquelles que no han flexionat l'extrem caudal de la notocorda). En general les metaèfires solen ser escasses, però ocasionalment poden ser prou abundants com per eliminar la majoria de larves de peixos abans de que aquestes arribin a l'etapa de flexió (aquelles que han començat a flexionar l'extrem caudal de la notocorda). No obstant això, la tonyina vermella tendeix a posar ous a prop o dins des front de les dues masses d'aigua, on els depredadors solen ser més escassos. Això suggereix que la tonyina vermella podria estar seleccionant llocs de posta basant-se en senyals oceanogràfiques del front i així evitar que les metaèfires exerceixin tot el seu potencial depredador sobre les larves.

Al observar la interacció depredador-presa entre la tonyina vermella i l'albacora, veim que les larves post-flexió (aquelles que han flexionat l'extrem caudal de la notocorda) poden depredar ràpidament larves d'albacora, en particular les que són massa petites com per escapar de les trobades amb els depredadors. La probabilitat que larves de tonyina vermella piscívores es trobin amb les d'albacora depèn en gran mesura de la distribució de cada espècie, així com des seu moment de posta, que és característic per cada un. No obstant això, la creixent abundància de tonyina vermella ha incrementat la seva pressió piscívora sobre les larves d'albacora des de 2001, i aquest patró se correlaciona amb tendències oposades en la biomassa de la població de cada espècie.

Aquesta tesi cobreix nocions clau per entendre millor l'ecologia i la dinàmica poblacional de *P. noctiluca* i contribueix a millorar el nostre coneixement sobre com les interaccions tròfiques en etapes primàries de la tonyina influeixen en la seva estratègia reproductiva.

Acronyms

ALB	Albacore
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BFT	Bluefin tuna
CDD	Central disc diameter
CTD	Conductivity-temperature-depth instrument
EU	European Union
EMFF	European Maritime and Fisheries Fund
GMT	Greenwich mean time
IBM	Individual Based Model
ICCAT	International commission for the conservation of Atlantic tuna
MLD	Mixed layer depth
NEMO	Nucleus for European Modelling of the Ocean
MOCNESS	Multiple Opening/Closing Net and Environmental Sensing System
Q10	Metabolic temperature coefficient
SGR	Specific growth rate
SL	Standard length
SST	Sea surface temperature
SOCIB	Balearic Islands Coastal Observing and Forecasting System
TBD	Total Body diameter
VIF	Variance inflation factor
WMD	Weighted mean depth

1. Introduction

"Nothing in biology makes sense except in the light of evolution."

Theodosius Dobzhansky

To eat and not get eaten are two of the most powerful forces of animal evolution. Indeed, failing in any of these efforts often has fatal consequences and genes will no longer be transferred to new generations. Therefore, animals have developed all sorts of adaptations to increase acquisition of food and reduce predation. For instance, developing large body sizes, rapid mobility or defense structures like sharp teeth, horns, spines, shells, crypsis, or venom can prevent getting eaten by other animals. Similarly, many of these adaptations can also be used to increase capture success of a prey, often leading to an evolutionary arms race between predators and prey. Not all mechanisms require anatomical adaptations. Behavioral, phenological, or a combination of multiple adaptations are, often the best strategy to increase fitness both, as predator and as prey.

The relation between a predator and its prey is called trophic interaction, and trophic ecology reflects all aspects related to trophic interactions at any ecological scale from individual to ecosystem levels (Garvey & Whiles 2016). The most common trophic interaction among animals is predation, which is here referred to as when one animal kills and consumes another animal (Stevens 2010).

For most people, what first comes to mind when thinking of predation is a carnivorous mammal hunting a grazer, or perhaps a big fish eating a little fish. However, predator-prey interactions are more complex and can sometimes reverse depending on the live stage of each player. This is quite common in the marine realm, where the fact that most fishes and invertebrates are small (i.e. <5 mm) when they hatch means that many other predators can feed on them, including those who are prey in later stages.

Tuna is a good fish example to illustrate the ontogenetic change in its role as prey or predator. Adult tunas are considered marine top predators feeding on foraging fishes, cephalopods, and crustaceans (Estrada et al. 2005). However, tuna larvae are barely 3 mm long when they hatch, and most plankton feeders can prey on them during their first days of live. This includes filter-feeding and small pelagic fishes like clupeids and myctophids, invertebrate predators like jellyfish or ctenophores, and even other fish larvae like piscivorous scombrids (Bailey & Houde 1989). Unsurprisingly, although some large tunas like the Atlantic bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* can spawn over 100 million eggs per year (Medina 2020), less than 1 may survive long enough to reach maturity. Such brutal early mortality rate sets two questions: Why do they invest their resources in so many small offspring that will mostly die? And who is eating all this tuna?

The answer to the first question is related to how food resources are distributed in the ocean. Winemiller & Rose (1993) found that large-scale patchiness of resources favor the reproductive fitness of large broods of small-size larvae compared to small broods of large-size larvae. Therefore, tuna's strategy of releasing many small eggs is to ensure that at least some offspring will make it to a suitable habitat, despite most of them dying early. Answering the second question is more challenging, as quantifying the interaction strength, (i.e. predicted effect that one species has on another species; Wootton & Emmerson 2005) of predators in natural habitats is almost impossible using direct, visual methods.

Understanding predator-prey processes of tuna eggs and larvae is key to understand drivers of natural mortality. It is estimated that predation is the primary cause of direct mortality of fishes in the ocean (Bailey & Houde 1989), and small changes in mortality rate of early life stages can lead to order-of-magnitude variation in the number of individuals recruiting to the adult population. However, predicting early mortality of fishes in natural systems is virtually impossible. Who are the main predators? What is their contribution to total mortality? How does it vary over time and space? How do bluefin tuna adapt its life strategy to minimize early predation? We are currently far of being able to answer these questions with confidence, but research on trophic interactions in the early life stages can put us in the right path.

The ecological patterns and trophic interactions my collaborators and I evaluate here focus on the early life stages of bluefin tuna, which comprise the period of life from egg to the juvenile stage (Fuiman & Werner 2002). This is the most vulnerable life period to predators, and larvae grow and develop fast to leave this vulnerable period as quickly as possible. After hatching, larval tuna progressively morph to juvenile stage by developing functional body structures like eyes, mouth, digestive system, gills, swim-bladder, and fins (Fig. 1.1)(Yúfera et al. 2014). By the time they finish this metamorphosis, what started as a highly vulnerable fish larvae turns into a voracious "killing machine" of other fish larvae.



Figure 1.1. Early life stages of bluefin tuna. a) Egg; b) yolck-sack-larva; c) pre-flexion larva; d) post-flexion larva. Source Planet tuna.

We are now in a good position to advance knowledge in larval tuna ecology, as research in this field is building momentum with leading ecological studies at different parts of the World, Including the Mediterranean Sea. In the last decade, larval surveys in the Mediterranean Sea, the Gulf of Mexico and the Slope Sea have identified key habitat features, like frontal zones and temperature thresholds, that favor reproductive activity of bluefin tuna (Reglero et al. 2012, Richardson et al. 2016, Muhling et al. 2017). Similar studies have been conducted in in the Sea of Japan and the Kuroshio current with the Pacific bluefin tuna *T. orientalis* (Ohshimo et al. 2017, Tawa et al. 2020) and between Indonesia and Australia with the Indian bluefin tuna *T. macoii* (Nieblas et al. 2014). Diet analyses are linking feeding behavior with larval growth and survival in the field (Gleiber et al. 2020, Kodama 2020), and recent studies on visual acuity (Hilder et al. 2019) and temperature- and food-dependent growth (Reglero et al. 2014a, 2018b, Blanco et al. 2018) enable to link larval metabolism with habitat conditions to predict larval fitness in the field (Fiksen & Reglero 2021).

While a good body of research has been developed over the past decades on feeding behavior and metabolism of larval bluefin tuna, less is known about the trophic interactions they have with other species or bout what consequences does such interactions have in their life-history. Among the few studies in this topic, larval cannibalism (Reglero et al. 2011, Uriarte et al. 2019, Takashina & Fiksen 2020) and predation by early life stages of the jellyfish *Pelagia noctiluca* on tuna eggs (Gordoa et al. 2013) are the most relevant ones. These studies have set the precedent on which I build my thesis. Using bluefin tuna as the central character of my thesis, I explore the predator-prey interaction strength they have with *P. noctiluca* and larval albacore.

2. Research goals

"Setting goals is the first step in turning the invisible into the visible."

Tony Robbins

The overarching goal of my thesis is to shed some light on trophic interactions of bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* with the jellyfish *Pelagia noctiluca* and the Mediterranean albacore *Thunnus alalunga*. This general goal is broken into four specific goals that constitute each Paper (Fig. 2.1). The first two papers focus on ecological and biological aspects of *P. noctiluca* early life stages. In the latter two, my collaborators and I test the interaction strength of *P. noctiluca* early life stages preying on bluefin tuna eggs and larvae, and of bluefin tuna larvae preying on albacore larvae.

The research approach is as following: we formulate a question that can bring relevant understanding regarding predator-prey interactions of larval tuna. This question underlies a hypothesis that needs be tested with state-of-the-art knowledge and available tools. If the knowledge is not available, we take a step back and formulate a question that can generate it. This is the reason why the first two papers focus on ecological aspects of *P. noctiluca* – to model its interaction with bluefin tuna we first had to generate basic knowledge of the distribution and feeding capacity *P. noctiluca*. I expect the findings from this work extend beyond simple predator-prey relationships and provide new ecological insights that will act as ground-knowledge to explore evolutionary and life-history speculations of all three species.



Figure 2.1. Contributions of this thesis. Each paper chapter corresponds to an ecological question and follow a logical order indicated by the arrows in the top: In Papers I and II we generate basic information of *P. noctiluca* a key predator of tuna early life stages. Paper I focus on habitat conditions like chlorophyl concentration favoring early life stages of *P. noctiluca* and Paper II classifies these stages based on morphological structures associated to their feeding capacity. In Papers III and IV we use information from the literature and from Papers I and II to investigate predator-prey interactions of bluefin tuna early life stages. Paper III focuses on the interaction

strength of *P. noctiluca* metaephyrae preying on bluefin tuna eggs and larvae, and Paper IV focuses on the interaction strength of larval bluefin tuna preying on smaller larvae of albacore. Arrows on the map indicate migratory paths of Atlantic bluefin tuna (orange) and Mediterranean albacore (white).

The specific goals of each Paper are listed below.

Goal 1. Describing favorable habitat conditions of *P. noctiluca* early life stages in the western Mediterranean Sea.

Question: What are the conditions favoring the presence and abundance of *P. noctiluca* early life stages?

Hypothesis: The distribution of *P. noctiluca* early life stages is not random, instead, it is determined by conditions of the habitat.

Paper I.

Goal 2. Defining morphological and morphometric stages of *P. noctiluca* during its early development in relation to its feeding capacity.

Question: Can we differentiate ephyrae and metaephyrae stages of *P. noctiluca*?

Hypothesis: Larger ephyrae and metaephyrae progressively develop feeding structures to be more effective predators. Development stages can be classified based on these traits.

Paper II.

Goal 3. Evaluating the interaction strength of *P. noctiluca* early life stages preying on egg and larval bluefin tuna.

Question: Are metaephyrae of *P. noctiluca* important invertebrate predators of egg and larval bluefin tuna in the western Mediterranean Sea?

Hypothesis: Metaephyrae of *P. noctiluca* can potentially inflict severe mortality on egg and larval bluefin tuna, and bluefin tuna has adapted its reproductive strategy to reduce invertebrate predation accordingly.

Paper III.

Goal 4. Evaluating the interaction strength of larval bluefin tuna preying on larval albacore.

Question: Are larval bluefin tuna important predators of larval albacore in the western Mediterranean Sea?

Hypothesis: Predation of larval bluefin tuna can significantly remove larval albacore and potentially affect its stock recruitment.

Paper IV.

3. General methods

"For every complex problem there is an answer that is clear, simple, and wrong." Henry Mencken

3.1. Analytical approach

To quantify predation in the field, the best proxy we currently have is to combine mechanistical models based on information of laboratory experiments with field observations of predator and prey distributions (Kiørboe 2008, Baum & Worm 2009). On the one hand, laboratory experiments enable to estimate parameters involved in predator-prey mechanics like clearance rate, predator visual range, digestions time, growth rate, etc. It also enables to estimate how these variables evolve at different water temperatures and body lengths. On the other hand, appropriate sampling in the field enables to estimate instantaneous predator-prey overlap in their natural habitat. Putting both things together can be used to estimate predation at large scale.

For my thesis I combined systematic sampling in the field with laboratory processing of samples, statistical modeling, and mechanistical models. The experimental design resides in the comparison of response variables under the different scenarios of each year. Additionally, a field experiment was conducted in 2019 to determine the vertical distribution and migration of *Pelagia noctiluca* early life stages.

3.2. Study area

All the field samples used in this thesis were collected around the Balearic Islands in the western Mediterranean Sea, in an area compressed between 37-41° N and 1-5° E (Fig. 3.1). The Mediterranean Sea is a semi-enclosed water mass of 2.5 million km² adjacent to the Atlantic Ocean. Human civilizations have benefited from its resources for thousands of years, and it is currently home to over half a billion people (Lemaitre-Curri & Tode 2020). The strait of Sicilia in southern Italy separates the western and eastern Mediterranean basins, which feature different biological and oceanographic traits (Krom et al. 1991).

The Mediterranean Sea is an oligotrophic system with limited productivity (Siokou-Frangou et al. 2010). The area around the Balearic Islands is a particularly unproductive region of the western Mediterranean, as nutrient discharges from land are very limited and upwelling systems are weak and ephemeral (Bakun & Agostini 2001). In fact, much of the surface productivity during summer relies heavily on the limited photosynthesis of bacteria and picoeukaryotes (Mena et al. 2016, 2019). Such low productivity sustains a rather small community of zooplankton that in turn sustains an also small community of nekton. Nevertheless, this area is targeted as spawning ground by several migratory species, posing interesting questions about the tradeoffs of reproducing in such oligotrophic area.

Hydrographic and biological traits of the study area are patchy. Moderate mesoscale oceanographic activity can create small pockets of enhanced productivity supporting greater food availability (Bakun 2006), and the seasonal arrival of surface water from the Atlantic creates a salinity front with the resident Atlantic water that fosters further complexity in the system (Balbín et al. 2014). Differences in the hydrography at each side of the front propel differences in the plankton community, and migratory species that come here to spawn may trace these hydrographic signatures to spawn in sites that feature better conditions for their offspring (Teo et al. 2007, Alemany et al. 2010).



Figure 1.1. Study area. All samples used in this thesis were collected around the Balearic Islands (square) in the western Mediterranean Sea. Sampling stations (black dots) were distributed at a 10x10 nautical mile grid. During the period of sampling, resident Atlantic waters (orange arrows) collides with newly arrived Atlantic (blue arrows) water creating a salinity front whose shape and position varies across the season and among years.

Vertical stratification adds further structural complexity to the system during the summer months. Although many organisms follow diel vertical migrations, the shallow (15-30 m) summer thermocline splits two different communities of plankton, including primary producers (Olivar et al. 2014), invertebrate zooplankton (Puelles et al. 2003), and ichthyoplankton (Olivar et al. 2014, Alvarez et al. 2021).
3.3. Field sampling

For the field observations, my collaborators and I collected plankton samples and vertical CTD profiles of oceanographic variables between June 21 and July 12 onboard research vessels of the Spanish Institute of Oceanography (IEO) and the Balearic Islands Coastal Observing and Forecasting System (SOCIB). The vessel name, sampling period, and number of net tows are listed in Table 1.

Plankton samples were collected with either a 1-m² frame bongo net or with a 0.25-m² frame multinet (Hydrobios), for horizontal and vertical sampling, respectively (Fig. 3.1), and stored in 4% formaldehyde solution for further processing in the lab. Exceptionally, some samples were sorted and photographed onboard using a camera-attached dissecting microscope (Fig. 3.2a).

Table 1. Field sampling. Summary of annual cruises to collect observations for this study. Bongo tows correspond to the number of sampling stations of each year. All 8 multinet tows were conducted at the same sampling station.

Year	Research vessel	Sampling period	Bongo tows	Multinet tows	Papers
2001		June 21 – July 7	156	0	IV
2002		June 18 – June 28	85	0	IV
2003		July 3 – July 29	198	0	IV
2004		June 18 – July 8	166	0	IV
2005		June 27 – July 27	185	0	IV
2012	Ramón Margalef	June 21 – July 4	118	0	I, III & IV
2013	SOCIB	June 20 – July 9	99	0	I, III & IV
2014	SOCIB	June 18 – June 30	74	0	I, II, III & IV
2015	SOCIB	June 23 – July 9	81	0	I, II, III & IV
2016	SOCIB	June 21 – July 7	79	0	I, II, III & IV
2017	SOCIB	June 26 – July 12	89	0	I, III & IV
2019	Ángeles Alvariño	July 2 – July 4	0	8	I, III

The CTD rosettes (Fig. 3.2b) had at least 14 Niskin bottles and sensors to measure temperature, salinity, fluorescence, and dissolved oxygen. In addition to the field data, we also downloaded temperature and chlorophyll data from the Mediterranean Sea (Med Sea) physical (v1.4) and biogeochemistry (v2.2) model re-analyses of the EU Copernicus Marine Environment Monitoring Service (Simoncelli et al. 2014, Teruzzi et al. 2014).



Figure 3.1. Plankton nets. a) 1-m² frame bongo net (with a smaller bongo net attached). b) 0.25-m² frame multinet. Photos by D. Ottmann and R. Santiago.



Figure 3.2. Onboard plankton sorting and CTD rosette. a) Samples were sorted and photographed with a camera-attached dissecting microscope. b) A CTD rosette was deployed in each sampling site to record vertical profiles of environmental conditions. Photos by P. Reglero and S. Mele.

3.4. Laboratory processing

My collaborators and I sorted all fish larvae and *P. noctiluca* early life stages in the lab with a dissecting microscope (Fig. 3.3). To take size measurements, we photographed them with a camera-attached dissecting microscope coupled to a computer with an image analysis software. Measurements were taken with ImagePro or ImageJ image-analysis software.



Figure 3.3. Plankton sorting in the lab. a) Plankton sample (in beaker) and dissecting Petry dish under a dissecting microscope. b) Microscope view of a plankton sample containing crustaceans, chaetognaths and tuna larvae of different sizes. Photos by D. Ottmann.

3.5. Statistical modeling

It is broadly accepted that statistical testing is required to evaluate significant differences between two sample populations, or to determine significant relationships between one or more explanatory variables and a response variable. A statistical model is essentially a mathematical relationship between the explanatory and response variables. The simplest one is a linear regression where the explanatory variable has a direct, linear effect on the response variable:

$$y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_i + \varepsilon_i \tag{M.1}$$

where y is the response variable, x is the explanatory variable, β_0 is the intercept, β_1 is the slope and \mathcal{E} is the error. The subscript *i* refers to each of the observations. An example of this linear regression is Model 2 in Paper II, where metaephyrae shrinkage is estimated as a function of the central disc diameter (see Paper II). The model can include as many explanatory variables as we want to test, and the effect of each variable is tested comparing the performance of models with and without the tested variable. An example of a linear model with more variables is Model 1 in Paper I, where temperature is estimated as a function of year and day of the year (see paper I).

For statistical models to be trustworthy, they must comply to a certain degree with basic assumptions of normal distribution, linearity, equality of variance, and independence of explanatory variables (Zuur et al. 2010). Unfortunately, most datasets in ecology violate some, if not all these assumptions. Thus, statistical models need to become more complex to overcome such violations. This includes non-linear relations between the explanatory and the response variables (i.e. generalized additive model), changing the sample distribution (i.e. generalized linear model), combining two different distributions in a model (i.e. hurdle model), include random effects (i.e. mixed models), or include zero-inflation, among other variations (Zuur et al. 2009). Given the complexity of our daya data, I applied all these variations in the statistical models presented in this thesis.

There are two ways to approach statistical modeling: the frequentist approach and the Bayesian approach. Classic modeling applies the frequentist approach, where the data analyst designs the model architecture and runs the model to get the best possible parameter values that explain the observations. In our M.1 model above, this would be like obtaining β values that minimizes the differences between the fitted values y_i and the observations. The model performance is then evaluated by checking how similar the observations are to the fitted values.

On the other hand, a Bayesian data analyst can set a range of β values *a priory* based on previous information. It will run the model multiple times, usually 10.000 times, to create 10.000 models with slight variations of the β values. To test the model performance, the fitted y_i values of each model is compared to the observations. At the end, a range of values is obtained for each β following a probabilistic shape called posterior distribution (Fig. 3.4). In the posterior distribution, the most frequently obtained β values are the most probable ones. If well performed, both statistical approaches should yield similar results, but current statistical software cannot cope with

some of the most complex models applying the frequentist approach. Therefore, I combined frequentist and Bayesian approaches in the statistical models of this thesis.



Figure 3.4. Example of the posterior distribution of $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ values of a variable in a Bayesian model. After 40.000 runs, the frequency of each $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ value depends on how well the fitted y_i of each model matches the observed data. The most frequent values are the most probable ones. The horizontal red arrow indicates the range where 95% of the posterior $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ values are found (95% credible interval). The vertical red line indicates where $\boldsymbol{\theta} = 0$. If the 95% credible interval includes 0 (like in this example), this explanatory variable is not an important predictor of the response variable and would be excluded from the final model.

3.6. Mechanistical modeling

My collaborators and I developed individual based models (IBM) of tuna larvae, which are a type of mechanistical model that allow for a high degree of complexity of individuals and of interactions among individuals (DeAngelis & Grimm 2014).

Contrary to statistical modeling, where significant relationships between variables can be determined even if the linking mechanism is missing, mechanistical modeling is all about understanding the mechanism. They draw input variables from the environment and the individual state and follow simple biological rules to produce emergent traits of the system (Fig. 3.5). Some of these traits may then alter the input variable. Ideally, all biological rules and parameters have been tested empirically to reduce uncertainty of each process. However, such information is often lacking, and basic assumptions based on relative species must be used instead.

An advantage of these models is that it enables to understand processes from a mechanistical perspective, as well as to test emergent traits under different hypothetical scenarios or to variations of structural parameters. A drawback is that the model alone fails to provide empirical evidence of such processes, and similarities between the patterns emerging from the model or from the field observations are merely correlative.





4. Paper I - Abundance of Pelagia noctiluca early life stages in the western Mediterranean Sea scales with surface chlorophyll

"To understand what happens in nature, you first need to know what is out there." Francisco Alemany

Publication information:

- Ottmann, D., Álvarez-Berastegui, D., Prieto, L., Balbín, R., Alemany, F., Fiksen, Ø., Gordoa, A., Reglero, P. (2021). Abundance of Pelagia noctiluca early life stages in the western Mediterranean Sea scales with surface chlorophyll. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 658, 75-88. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13423</u>
 - Journal: Marine Ecology Progress Series
 - JCR impact factor in 2021: 2.824
 - Ranking in oceanography: 21/61 Q2
 - Ranking in ecology: 76/166 Q2
 - Ranking in marine & freshwater biology: 24/110 Q1

5. Paper II - Ephyrae and metaephyrae of Pelagia noctiluca: stage determination, morphometry, and shrinkage

"You can't draw a fine painting with a thick brush."

Raul Laiz

Publication information:

- Ottmann D, Leyva L, Reglero P, Prieto L, Álvarez I. (2021). Ephyrae and metaephyrae of Pelagia noctiluca: stage determination, morphometry, and shrinkage. Journal of Plankton Research. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbab060</u>
 - Journal: Journal of Plankton Research
 - JCR impact factor in 2021: 2.455
 - Ranking in oceanography: 30/65 Q2
 - Ranking in marine & freshwater biology: 36/110 Q2

6. Paper III - Spawning site distribution of a bluefin tuna reduces jellyfish predation on early life stages

"Life is too short to live it stressed out."

Patricia Reglero

Publication information:

- Ottmann D, Fiksen Ø, Martín M, Alemany F, Prieto L, Álvarez-Berastegui D, Reglero P. Spawning site distribution of a bluefin tuna reduces jellyfish predation on early life stages. Limnology and Oceanography. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11908</u>
 - Journal: Limnology and Oceanography
 - JCR impact factor in 2021: 4.745
 - Ranking in oceanography: 4/64 Q1
 - Ranking in limnology: 3/21 Q1

7. Paper IV - Small fish eat smaller fish: a model of interaction strength in early life stages of two tuna species

"Sometimes you have to re-think your conceptions."

Øyvind Fiksen

Publication information:

- Ottmann D, Reglero P, Alemany F, Alvarez-Berastegui D, Martín M, Fiksen Ø (*in review*) Small fish eat smaller fish: a model of interaction strength in early life stages of two tuna species. Limn and Ocean Lett.
 - Journal: Limnology and Oceanography Letters
 - JCR impact factor in 2021: 7.875
 - Ranking in oceanography: 3/65 Q1
 - Ranking in limnology: 1/21 Q1

ARTICLE TYPE:

Letter

TITLE

Small fish eat smaller fish: a model of interaction strength in early life stages of two tuna species

RUNNING HEAD:

Predation among larval tuna

AUTHORS

Daniel Ottmann¹*, Patricia Reglero¹, Francisco Alemany¹, Diego Alvarez-Berastegui¹, Melissa Martín¹, Øyvind Fiksen²

¹ Centro Oceanográfico de Balears (IEO, CSIC), Moll de Ponent s/n, 07015, Palma de Mallorca, Spain.

² Department of Biological Sciences, University of Bergen, 5020, Bergen, Norway

*Corresponding author. E-mail address: daniel.ottmann.riera@gmail.com

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data and R code are available in Github repository

https://github.com/dottmann/bluefin_tuna_albacore_piscivory

SCIENTIFIC SIGNIFICANCE STATEMENT

Most marine fishes die during their first days of life falling prey for other animals, and even minor changes in early predation rates can lead to order-ofmagnitude variation in the number of individuals recruiting to the adult population. However, quantifying predation in fish early life stages and linking species-specific interactions to recruitment and population dynamics is challenging. Here we test the hypothesis that recovery of the commercially exploited Atlantic bluefin tuna can affect early survival of the Mediterranean albacore through predator-prey interactions of their early life stages. We find that when the predator species is present, they have a large predatory capacity on the prey species, but their patchy distribution may limit their total effect. Along with other processes affecting early survival, this interaction can contribute to a loss of recruitment potential to later stages.

ABSTRACT

Fish larvae are rarely a major driver of fish mortality, but tunas can produce large batches of larvae that rapidly develop the capacity to kill other fish. We combine a model for the killing potential from Atlantic bluefin tuna (BFT) larvae on larval albacore (ALB) with field observations at a major spawning ground. Both species spawn from June to August, but BFT has a narrow spawning peak at the beginning of the season that results in priority effects. Our model shows that, following a recent stock recovery, BFT larvae have increased their killing pressure, leaving areas of up to 1000km² with <1% chance of ALB daily survival. Such increase in killing pressure suggests larval ALB has reduced chances to survive, yet in large areas with few BFT other drivers of early survival prevail over BFT predation. This shows that strong predatory interactions can occur during larval stages in some fishes.

INTRODUCTION

Can predation by days-old fish larvae change reproductive success in other fish species? Although most fishes get killed by predators early in their life, piscivorous fish larvae are usually considered a minor cause of mortality because they are a small fraction of the total predator guild (Bailey & Houde 1989, Folkvord 1997, Houde 2008). This paradigm is likely true for most fishes, but tunas may be an exception, as they rapidly develop morphological traits (fast swimming speed, large eyes, large mouth-gap, voracious behavior, and rapid development of digestive system) that turn them into effective piscivores (Kaji et al. 2002, Llopiz & Hobday 2015). Further, adults are highly fecund fishes that target spawning grounds shared with other tunas, facilitating encounters among larvae (Reglero et al. 2014b). The Mediterranean albacore *Thunnus alalunga* (hereafter ALB) and Atlantic bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* (BFT) are large, migratory species that share a major spawning ground in the western Mediterranean Sea (Alemany et al. 2010). Here, they spawn from June to August, but BFT has a narrower spawning peak than ALB, shifted towards the beginning of the breeding season (Saber et al. 2015, Reglero et al. 2018b).

During the tuna spawning season in the Mediterranean Sea, invertebrate predators are few and patchy (Ottmann et al. 2021b), but piscivorous fish larvae may be important predators of smaller larvae. The fact that BFT and ALB can produce large batches of larvae that are restricted to the warm water above the shallow (~20 m depth) thermocline (Torres et al. 2011, Reglero et al. 2018a) increase encounter rates and strengthen interactions. However, the strength of predatory interactions among tuna larvae has never been quantified.

Can predation from BFT larvae limit the early survival of ALB? The current rise of the eastern stock of Atlantic BFT (ICCAT 2020) and the concurrent decline of ALB makes this question relevant and provides an opportunity to explore this interaction. After decision makers implemented strict fishing quotas on BFT, the eastern stock has boosted from 348 thousand MT in 2007 to over one million MT in 2018 (Porch et al. 2019, ICCAT 2020). In contrast, the unmanaged population of Mediterranean ALB has recently declined in different parts of the Sea (Alvarez-Berastegui et al. 2018, ICCAT 2021). This decline cannot be attributed to fisheries because fishing pressure has remained relatively constant over the past decades (ICCAT 2020). Larval and fishery surveys indicate that, although larval abundances of ALB in western Mediterranean have dropped in recent years, adults target the same spawning sites and spawn during the same period (Saber et al. 2015, Alvarez-Berastegui et al. 2018). Thus, it is unlikely that a change in their spawning grounds or in the spawning window is causing the drop in larval abundance. One intriguing possibility is that the increasing BFT population affects ALB abundance through predation on the larval stages.

Here we model the predatory potential of larval BFT and assess its effect on early survival of ALB in the western Mediterranean Sea. Quantifying predator-prey encounters is difficult in any natural system, and for plankton we need to combine observations and mechanistic models (Kiørboe 2008). We develop a size-dependent model of predation for BFT larvae to assess how their increasing density affect survival of ALB, including observed size distributions from surveys in a major spawning ground. Then, we compare ALB's predicted probability of survival and observed densities before (2001-2005) and after (2012-2017) the eastern stock recovery of BFT.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Field sampling and laboratory processing

We collected larval tuna with bongo nets in a major spawning ground around the Balearic Islands, western Mediterranean, in 11 surveys grouped in two discrete intervals from 2001-2005 and 2012-2017, representing periods before and after the BFT stock recovery, respectively (Supporting information). Sampling was timed to coincide with the peak spawning of BFT, and all 1429 samples were preserved in 4% formalin buffered with borax.

In the laboratory, we counted and identified all fishes to the lowest possible taxon and measured standard length for ALB and BFT with a camera-attached stereoscope and Image-Pro analysis software. Larval lengths were then corrected for the effect of shrinkage in formalin so we can use functional parameters obtained from live experiments (Supporting information).

Defining predators and prey

BFT (and ALB) larvae complete the notochordal flexion (bending of the notochord in the caudal fin) and switch to a dominantly piscivorous diet at about 7.5 mm standard length (Uriarte et al. 2019, SL; Blanco et al. 2019). Therefore, we assume all BFT larvae \geq 7.5 mm to be piscivorous predators on ALB that have not yet completed the notochordal flexion (Fig. 1). Yolk-sac is the smallest and least developed of the larval stages, with a negligible ability to detect and escape attacks from piscivorous larvae. We used the lower standard deviation of pre-flexion larval size (4.2 mm; Figure S1) as the threshold of first feeding and, since larvae \leq 4.1 mm are yolk-sack larvae, their probability of capture success *P* = 1. Larvae between 4.2-7.4 mm standard length gradually flex their notochord and improve their swimming and evasive abilities (Reglero et al. 2015, Blanco et al. 2019, Downie et al. 2020). For these, we assume that the probability of capture success *P*_{ij} for a BFT of size *i* hunting an ALB of size *j* decreases with relative predator-prey length (Eq. 1):

(1)
$$P_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ for } L_j \leq 4.1 \\ \left(1 - \frac{L_j - 4.1}{L_i - 4.1}\right)^k \text{ for } L_j > 4.1 \end{cases}$$

Here, k is set to a basic value of 10 (see Supporting information for justification and sensitivity analysis of k) and L_i and L_j are the BFT and ALB standard length (m), respectively.

The predator-prey encounter model

BFT larvae are visual predators that detect prey at increasing distance through ontogeny (Hilder et al. 2019). Here, we quantify how often a BFT larva encounters and captures an ALB larva based on a mechanistic model for volume scanned for prey and survey-data on densities and size-distributions of both larval species. From this, we integrate the potential predation mortality suffered by ALB larvae.

First, we need to know how far away a BFT larva can detect an ALB, and how this depends on the body size or ontogeny of both predator and prey. The ability to resolve and detect objects depend, among other things, on the eye size, focal length and density of rods and cones on the retina – the visual acuity (Caves et al. 2018, Hilder et al. 2019). Visual acuity can be measured as minimum separable angle *M*,

which determines the smallest visual angle at which two separate objects can be distinguished. Here we use an empirical estimate of M from the southern BFT T. *macoyii*: $M = 4.699L^{-1.129}$ where L is the prey length (Hilder et al. 2019). Southern BFT is a close relative of Atlantic BFT with a similar ontogenetic development of eye and retina (Yúfera et al. 2014). The maximum visual prey detection distance R_{ij} (m) of a BFT of length *i* on an ALB of length *j* then becomes

(2)
$$R_{ij} = \frac{0.5L_j zq}{\tan(0.5M_i)}$$
,

where z = 0.5 is the behavioral/anatomical correction ratio (Job & Bellwood 1996). This equation applies to a spherical object; therefore, we reduce R_{ij} by q = 0.5 since the projected image area of a fish larva is about half that of a circle.

Southern BFT larvae develop higher cone density in the ventral retinal region, which suggest they detect most prey looking upward with the surface as a contrasting background (Hilder et al. 2019). We therefore reduce their potential sectional search area from a full circle to a half circle (Fig. 1) (Fiksen & Folkvord 1999). We further assume random directional swimming of prey and predators in three dimensions, and apply the encounter model of Gerritsen & Strickler (1977) to calculate the clearance rate C_{ij} (m³ h⁻¹), or volume of water scanned by a BFT of size *i* for ALB of size *j* per hour:

(3)
$$C_{ij} = 0.5\pi R_{ij}^2 \frac{V_j^2 + 3V_i^2}{3V_i}$$

where V_i and V_j are the BFT and ALB swimming velocities (m h⁻¹), respectively. Larval BFT swimming velocity V_i is about 3 body-lengths s⁻¹ (Reglero et al. 2015), and we assume V_j is the same. The rate E_{ij} at which an ALB of size j may encounter BFT of size i per hour is obtained by simply multiplying C_{ij} by the predator density D_i (BFT larvae m⁻³), $E_{ij} = C_{ij} \times D_i$. We assessed the sensitivity of visual radius (m) and clearance rate (m³h⁻¹) to all model parameters and predictions (Supporting information).

For each *ij* predator-prey size combination (Fig. 1), a BFT larva's immediate consumption rate is $E_{ij} \times P_{ij}$. BFT larvae do not feed in darkness (Blanco et al. 2017), and we assume no satiation or handling limitations, which is reasonable given the low observed densities of ALB (Fig. S6). Therefore, the daily consumption rate becomes $E_{ij} \times P_{ij} \times h$ and daily survival chance is $S_{ij} = exp^{-E_{ij} \times P_{ij} \times h}$, where *h* is the number of daylight hours (15 h). Following the multiplication rule of probability, for each station, all S_{ij} of a given *j*-size ALB can be multiplied to calculate daily chance S_j to survive to all size-predators *i* combined. Then, we multiply $S_j \times D_j$ to find the density of surviving ALB after one day of exposure to predation.

Size-structure and vulnerability to increasing BFT abundance

For ALB, survival depends on BFT's total density ΣD_i and relative size. Field densities of piscivorous BFT range from 0 to 0.168 larvae m⁻³, and the size-structure of ALB and BFT is unique in each station. Because we want to test the vulnerability of each ALB cohort based on its size structure, regardless of the predator size-structure, we standardize BFT to an idealized continuous size structure (Supporting information) and estimate ALB survival of each station to increasing densities of BFT. To further illustrate how piscivory differs among ALB size-classes, we simulate another idealized

size-structured cohort, this time of larval ALB, and focus on size-class effects at $\Sigma D_i = 0.002, 0.020, 0.080$ and 0.168 BFT larvae m⁻³.

BFT and survival of ALB larvae

We test the effect of BFT on ALB survival along spatial and temporal dimensions. Spatially, we use annual survey data to map piscivorous BFT distribution over the spawning ground, including their size-structure, and estimate daily probability of dying (1 – probability of survival) for a vulnerable (4.1 mm SL) ALB yolk-sack larva at each station. Mortality will be greater in stations with denser and larger BFT than in stations with fewer and smaller BFT and will have no effect where BFT are absent (89.8% of surveyed stations).

For the temporal analysis, we apply a Welch's 2-sample t-test to compare densities and daily probability of survival for a 4.1 mm ALB yolk-sack larva in each sampling station before and after the BFT recovery. Then, we correlate the temporal trends in ALB larval densities in relation with presence and abundance of piscivorous BFT and in relation to their predatory potential (survival for a 4.1 mm yolk-sack larva).

RESULTS

Size-structure and vulnerability to increasing BFT abundance

Piscivorous BFT (\geq 7.5 mm SL) accounted for less than 1% of the total BFT larvae observed in the field, but they were relatively widespread (in 10.2% of all stations) and found in densities up to 0.167 larvae m⁻³. Almost half the stations with piscivorous BFT had <0.005 larvae m⁻³, and only 3 stations (0.2%) had more than 0.10 larvae m⁻³ (Fig. 2a).

The average proportion of observed ALB that would survive daily predation at the highest density of BFT is 17.2% (0.168 larvae m⁻³, assuming idealized BFT size structure [Fig. S5]) (Fig. 2a). However, observed ALB size structures differ among stations, resulting in large variance in survival. Among the 33.3% stations with presence of ALB (Fig. S6), 81% of them had only small (<4.5 mm) ALB. Thus, ALB larvae at most stations are vulnerable to high BFT abundance (Fig. 2a).

BFTs' killing potential increase proportionally with density, but mostly small ALB larvae are vulnerable to predation. In the simulated size-structured cohort of larval ALB (Fig. 2b-e), their probability to survive one day increase with size after the yolk-sack larvae threshold, regardless of predator abundance. Small individuals (<4.5 mm SL) are removed much faster than larger individuals (4.5-7.4 mm), which is illustrated with a greater drop of surviving ALB. Thus, although BFT's killing potential increase proportionally with density, the size-distribution of the surviving ALB cohort will differ upon BFT density.

BFT and survival of ALB larvae

Overall, the probability that an ALB is predated by a piscivorous BFT larva is low and patchy due to absence of piscivorous BFT in most stations. However, patches of high daily mortality were up to 5 times larger and over 10 times more abundant in the 2012-2017 interval compared to the 2001-2005 interval (Fig. S7). Estimated daily mortality was lowest in 2001 when no piscivorous BFT was observed and greatest off southeast Ibiza in 2017, where vulnerable ALB (i.e. 4.1 mm SL yolk-sack larva) had <1% estimated daily chance to survive predation from BFT in an area of 1000 km².

Across the 17-year period of this study, BFTs' presence and abundance increased after the stock recovery (Fig. 3). Thus, ALB's estimated daily probability of survival dropped in 2012-2017 compared to 2001-2005 (*F*-test, p < 0.001). Conversely, ALB was less abundant in 2012-2017 than in 2001-2005 despite interannual fluctuations within each period (*F*-test, p < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

Trophic interactions among fish larvae have been largely neglected, but we show that some voracious and piscivorous larvae can be an important driver of mortality in other fish species. Piscivorous BFT larvae can cause severe mortality in small ALB larvae and truncate their size distribution. Even at low densities (0.02 larvae m⁻³) BFT can kill more than half the yolk-sack and small pre-flexion ALB larvae in a single day (Fig. 2c), and real predation may exceed the values reported here because piscivorous BFT are likely underestimated due to net avoidance (Habtes et al. 2014). This predator-prey interaction is strong because larval BFT are unusually abundant in the western Mediterranean spawning grounds compared to tunas elsewhere (Ohshimo et al. 2017, Tawa et al. 2020). However, larvae of other billfishes and scombrids may have an even greater piscivorous potential than BFT, as some are more voracious (Llopiz & Hobday 2015) and can be more abundant. Thus, strong piscivorous interactions among fish larvae are likely more widespread than previously thought. This conclusion may extend to freshwater systems too, as fishes like pike *Esox* spp. or pikeperch *Sander* spp. also become piscivorous during their larval stage (Colchen et al. 2020).

Our model shows that the increase in piscivorous BFT larvae has resulted in an increased risk of mortality for ALB, but does this mean that BFT can reduce the recruitment potential of ALB? Predation only takes place when both predator and prey cooccur in the same place, and because only a fraction of newly hatched individuals survive to the post-flexion stage, BFT are relatively few and patchy by the time they become piscivorous. Thus, most areas of the ALB spawning ground are relatively safe from piscivorous BFT (Fig. S7). However, the number and size of these patches has increased after the BFT stock recovery, reducing the ALB piscivore-safe zones. Piscivorous BFT rose from an average 0.0003 to 0.0016 larvae m⁻³ after the stock recovery and estimated mean daily survival of ALB dropped from 99% to 95% (Fig. 3). This suggests that predator-prey interactions may have contributed to the reduction of observed ALB density with the recovery BFT (Fig. 3). Nonetheless, the increase in BFT piscivorous pressure is just one of several contributing processes driving the ALB decay, as the larval abundances of both species are not always negatively correlated. In 2017, for instance, larval abundances of both species increased, suggesting that factors like warm water temperature, food availability, or low abundance of invertebrate predators (Fiksen & Reglero 2021, Ottmann et al. 2021b) could favor both species.

Other processes, like a decrease of ALB biomass due to fishing activities (ICCAT 2021), changes in food availability (Gleiber et al. 2020), or increase of tropical species with piscivorous behavior (Báez et al. 2018) may also contribute to the observed

decline of ALB larval densities, especially in the stations where piscivorous BFT is absent. It is difficult to say which processes have a greater contribution to ALB mortality, as they may vary over time and space. The effect of piscivorous BFT, for instance, is strongest at the beginning of ALB's spawning season, as this is when BFT is most actively reproducing (Reglero et al. 2018b). Mesocosm experiments under different temperature and food regimes can help determine the vulnerability of ALB larvae to other habitat conditions.

A meta-analysis study (Mittelbach & Persson 1998) reveals that freshwater fishes that develop piscivorous behavior early in life tend to be larger at hatch, grow faster and spawn earlier than their prey. In our case, both tuna species have similar size-at-hatch and growth rate, thus, it is the early spawning of BFT (Reglero et al. 2018b) that results in a priority effect. The fact that their larvae are large enough to be piscivorous when ALB yolk-sack and pre-flexion larvae are most abundant may be an adaptive life-history strategy in a long-distance migrator to provide fish prey to their offspring and simultaneously reduce food competition with other larvae of the same guild (Siepielski et al. 2020), yet this hypothesis remains untested. Either way, it suggests that timing of spawning is an important modulator of the interaction strength among piscivorous fishes of the same guild.

Predation and predator-related processes are the major drivers of fish mortality, especially during the early stages of life (Bailey & Houde 1989, Houde 2008, Fouzai et al. 2019). However, mortality processes in larval stages may differ from those in juvenile stage. Current studies show that juvenile ALB have not been observed in stomach content of other juvenile or adult scombrids (Fletcher et al. 2013, Sorell et al. 2017, Varela et al. 2019), and they are thought to be too few to cause density-dependent regulation (Arregui et al. 2006, Bakun 2013). Thus, although predation and density-dependence may occur in juvenile stages, it appears that processes driving mortality of larval stages have a heavier leverage on recruitment success (Watai et al. 2017, Ishihara et al. 2019).

The eastern stock of Atlantic BFT has recovered from overfishing thanks to effective fisheries management (Porch et al. 2019), but the rise of BFT may have unintended consequences on the Mediterranean ALB stock due to predation in larval stages. Predator-prey interactions can cause alternative stable states in both marine and freshwater systems (e.g. Barkai & McQuaid 1988, Persson et al. 2007, Eklöf et al. 2020), where changes in the prey or predator populations, often triggered by human activities, can reverse the predator-prey role. Although the degree to which larval piscivory can affect recruitment of ALB remains uncertain, this study is the first to consider population-level effects of a fish by a larval predator of the same guild. Clarifying the effect that the recovery of BFT may have on ALB is important. While the stock appears to be declining and has enter in overfishing status, current management of the Mediterranean ALB fishery aims to "avoid increases in catch and effort" (Alvarez-Berastegui et al. 2018, ICCAT 2021). Now that some stocks of top predator fishes are recovering world-wide (Hilborn et al. 2020), further understanding of trophic interactions between commercially important species can help decision makers move beyond single-stock management.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the people who assisted in the collection and processing of plankton samples and in the experimental work, particularly, E. Blanco, A. Ortega, F. de la Gándara. Biomass data for BFT was provided by ICCAT Secretariat. This work received funds from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement No 773713 (PANDORA) and by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness under grant agreements CTM2011-29525-C04-02 (ATAME) and CTM-2015-68473-R (ECOLATUN). It was also supported in kind by the Spanish Institute of Oceanography (TUNIBAL) and its joined research initiative with the Balearic Islands Coastal Observing and Forecasting System (SOCIB) (BLUEFIN). D.O. was supported by FPI Fellowship from Vicepresidència i Conselleria d'Innovació, Recerca i Turisme of the regional Government of the Balearic Islands co-financed by the 2014–2020 European Social Fund program.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

D.O., P.R. and Ø.F. designed the research; P.R. and F.A. provided research funding; D.O., P.R., F.A., M.M. and D.A.-B. collected field samples; D.O., F.A, and D.A.-B. and M.M. analyzed the samples and data; All authors discussed the results; D.O. and Ø.F. wrote the paper and all other authors edited the text and provided insights and comments.

REFERENCES

- Alemany, F., L. Quintanilla, P. Velez-Belchí, and others. 2010. Characterization of the spawning habitat of Atlantic bluefin tuna and related species in the Balearic Sea (western Mediterranean). Prog. Ocean. 86: 21–38. doi:10.1016/j.pocean.2010.04.014
- Alvarez-Berastegui, D., S. Saber, G. W. Ingram, and others. 2018. Integrating reproductive ecology, early life dynamics and mesoscale oceanography to improve albacore tuna assessment in the Western Mediterranean. Fish. Res. 208: 329–338. doi:10.1016/j.fishres.2018.08.014
- Arregui, I., H. Arrizabalaga, D. S. Kirby, and J. M. Martin-Gonzalez. 2006. Stock– environment–recruitment models for North Atlantic albacore (*Thunnus alalunga*). Fish. Oceanog. **15**: 402–412. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2419.2005.00399.x
- Báez, J. C., P. Pascual-Alayón, M. L. Ramos, and F. J. Abascal. 2018. Túnidos tropicales: calentamiento global y seguridad alimentaria, una visión global. Rev. biol. mar. oceanogr. 53: 1–8. doi:10.4067/S0718-19572018000100001
- Bailey, K. M., and E. D. Houde. 1989. Predation on eggs and larvae of marinefishes and the recruitment problem, p. 1–83. *In* Advances in Marine Biology. Elsevier.
- Bakun, A. 2013. Ocean eddies, predator pits and bluefin tuna: implications of an inferred 'low risk-limited payoff' reproductive scheme of a (former) archetypical top predator. Fish. Fish. 14: 424–438. doi:10.1111/faf.12002
- Barkai, A., and C. McQuaid. 1988. Predator-prey role reversal in marine benthic ecosystem. Science 242(4875): 62–64. doi:Barkai, A., & McQuaid, C. (1988).
 Predator-Prey Role Reversal in a Marine Benthic Ecosystem. Science, 242(4875), 62–64. doi:10.1126/science.242.4875.62
- Blanco, E., P. Reglero, A. Hernández de Rojas, A. Ortega, F. de la Gándara, and A. Folkvord. 2019. The effect of nutritional condition by two nucleic acid derived indices on the growth to post-flexion of Atlantic bluefin tuna and Atlantic bonito larvae. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **519**: 151182. doi:10.1016/j.jembe.2019.151182
- Blanco, E., P. Reglero, A. Ortega, F. de la Gándara, Ø. Fiksen, and A. Folkvord. 2017. The effects of light, darkness and intermittent feeding on the growth and survival of reared Atlantic bonito and Atlantic bluefin tuna larvae. Aquaculture 479: 233–239. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.05.020
- Caves, E. M., N. C. Brandley, and S. Johnsen. 2018. Visual acuity and the evolution of signals. Trends Ecol. Evol. **33**: 358–372. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2018.03.001
- Colchen, T., A. Dias, E. Gisbert, F. Teletchea, P. Fontaine, and A. Pasquet. 2020. The onset of piscivory in a freshwater fish species: analysis of behavioural and physiological traits. J Fish Biol **96**: 1463–1474. doi:10.1111/jfb.14322
- Downie, A. T., B. Illing, A. M. Faria, and J. L. Rummer. 2020. Swimming performance of marine fish larvae: review of a universal trait under ecological and environmental pressure. Rev. Fish. Biol. Fish. **30**: 93–108. doi:10.1007/s11160-019-09592-w
- Eklöf, J. S., G. Sundblad, M. Erlandsson, S. Donadi, J. P. Hansen, B. K. Eriksson, and U. Bergström. 2020. A spatial regime shift from predator to prey dominance in a large coastal ecosystem. Commun Biol **3**: 459. doi:10.1038/s42003-020-01180-0

- Fiksen, Ø., and A. Folkvord. 1999. Modelling growth and ingestion processes in herring *Clupea harengus* larvae. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. **184**: 273–289. doi:10.3354/meps184273
- Fiksen, Ø., and P. Reglero. 2021. Atlantic bluefin tuna spawn early to avoid metabolic meltdown in larvae. Ecology published online. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3568
- Fletcher, N., I. E. Batjakas, and G. J. Pierce. 2013. Diet of the Atlantic bonito Sarda sarda (Bloch, 1793) in the Northeast Aegean Sea. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 29: 1030– 1035. doi:10.1111/jai.12164
- Folkvord, A. 1997. Ontogeny of cannibalism in larval and juvenile fishes with special emphasis on Atlantic cod, p. 251–278. *In* R.C. Chambers and E.A. Trippel [eds.], Early Life History and Recruitment in Fish Populations. Springer Netherlands.
- Fouzai, N., A. F. Opdal, C. Jørgensen, and Ø. Fiksen. 2019. Dying from the lesser of three evils: facilitation and non-consumptive effects emerge in a model with multiple predators. Oikos **128**: 1307–1317. doi:10.1111/oik.05631
- Gerritsen, J., and J. R. Strickler. 1977. Encounter probabilities and community structure in zooplankton: a mathematical model. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can. **34**: 73–82. doi:10.1139/f77-008
- Gleiber, M. R., S. Sponaugle, and R. K. Cowen. 2020. Some like it hot, hungry tunas do not! Implications of temperature and plankton food web dynamics on growth and diet of tropical tuna larvae. ICES Journal of Marine Sciences **77**: 3058–3073.
- Habtes, S., F. E. Muller-Karger, M. A. Roffer, J. T. Lamkin, and B. A. Muhling. 2014. A comparison of sampling methods for larvae of medium and large epipelagic fish species during spring SEAMAP ichthyoplankton surveys in the Gulf of Mexico: Gulf of Mexico larval fish sampling gear. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 12: 86–101. doi:10.4319/lom.2014.12.86
- Hilborn, R., R. O. Amoroso, C. M. Anderson, and others. 2020. Effective fisheries management instrumental in improving fish stock status. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA **117**: 2218–2224. doi:10.1073/pnas.1909726116
- Hilder, P. E., S. C. Battaglene, N. S. Hart, S. P. Collin, and J. M. Cobcroft. 2019. Retinal adaptations of southern bluefin tuna larvae: Implications for culture. Aquaculture 507: 222–232. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.04.024
- Houde, E. D. 2008. Emerging from Hjort's Shadow. J. Northw. Atl. Fish. Sci. **41**: 53–70. doi:10.2960/J.v41.m634
- ICCAT. 2020. 2020 SCRS advice to the Comission. ICCAT, 17. 1-362.
- ICCAT. 2021. Report of the intersessional meeting of the albacore species group including the Mediterranean albacore stock assessment. SCRS SCRS/2021/009, Collect. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT, 78(8). 1-36.
- Ishihara, T., M. Watai, S. Ohshimo, and O. Abe. 2019. Differences in larval growth of Pacific bluefin tuna (*Thunnus orientalis*) between two spawning areas, and an evaluation of the growth-dependent mortality hypothesis. Envir. Biol. Fish. **102**: 581–594. doi:10.1007/s10641-019-00855-w
- Job, S. D., and D. R. Bellwood. 1996. Visual acuity and feeding in larval *Premnas* biaculeatus. J Fish Biol **48**: 952–963. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1996.tb01489.x
- Kaji, T., J. Shoji, M. Aoyama, and M. Tanaka. 2002. Highly specialized development of the digestive system in piscivorous scombrid larvae. Fish. Res. 68: 884–887. doi:https://doi.org/10.2331/fishsci.68.sup1_884

- Kiørboe, T. 2008. A mechanistic approach to plankton ecology, Princeton University Press.
- Llopiz, J. K., and A. J. Hobday. 2015. A global comparative analysis of the feeding dynamics and environmental conditions of larval tunas, mackerels, and billfishes. Deep Sea Res. Part II: Top. Stud. Oceanog. **113**: 113–124. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2014.05.014
- Mittelbach, G. G., and L. Persson. 1998. The ontogeny of piscivory and its ecological consequences. **55**: 12.
- Ohshimo, S., A. Tawa, T. Ota, and others. 2017. Horizontal distribution and habitat of Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis,* larvae in the waters around Japan. bms **93**: 769–787. doi:10.5343/bms.2016.1094
- Ottmann, D., Ø. Fiksen, M. Martín, F. Alemany, and L. Prieto. 2021. Spawning site distribution of a bluefin tuna reduces jellyfish predation on early life stages. Limnol. Oceanogr. **66**: 3669–3681. doi:10.1002/lno.11908
- Persson, L., P.-A. Amundsen, A. M. De Roos, A. Klemetsen, R. Knudsen, and R. Primicerio. 2007. Culling Prey Promotes Predator Recovery--Alternative States in a Whole-Lake Experiment. Science **316**: 1743–1746. doi:10.1126/science.1141412
- Porch, C. E., S. Bonhommeau, G. A. Diaz, H. Arrizabalaga, and G. Melvin. 2019. The journey from overfishing to sustainability for Atlantic bluefin yuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, p. 3–44. *In* The future of bluefin tunas: ecology, fisheries management, and conservation.
- Reglero, P., E. Blanco, F. Alemany, and others. 2018a. Vertical distribution of Atlantic bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* and bonito *Sarda sarda* larvae is related to temperature preference. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. **594**: 231–243. doi:10.3354/meps12516
- Reglero, P., A. Ortega, R. Balbín, and others. 2018b. Atlantic bluefin tuna spawn at suboptimal temperatures for their offspring. Proc. R. Soc. B 285: 20171405. doi:10.1098/rspb.2017.1405
- Reglero, P., D. Tittensor, D. Álvarez-Berastegui, A. Aparicio-González, and B. Worm. 2014. Worldwide distributions of tuna larvae: revisiting hypotheses on environmental requirements for spawning habitats. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 501: 207–224. doi:10.3354/meps10666
- Reglero, P., N. Zaragoza, E. Blanco, F. de la Gandara, A. P. Torres, and A. Ortega. 2015. Routine swimming speed of bluefin tuna larvae measured in the laboratory. Proceedings of the 39th Annual Larval Fish Conference.
- Saber, S., J. Ortiz de Urbina, M. J. Gómez-Vives, and D. Macías. 2015. Some aspects of the reproductive biology of albacore *Thunnus alalunga* from the western Mediterranean Sea. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. **95**: 1705–1715. doi:10.1017/S002531541500020X
- Siepielski, A. M., A. Z. Hasik, T. Ping, M. Serrano, K. Strayhorn, and S. P. Tye. 2020. Predators weaken prey intraspecific competition through phenotypic selection I. Donohue [ed.]. Ecol Lett **23**: 951–961. doi:10.1111/ele.13491
- Sorell, J. M., J. L. Varela, N. Goñi, D. Macías, H. Arrizabalaga, and A. Medina. 2017. Diet and consumption rate of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in the Strait of Gibraltar. Fisheries Research **188**: 112–120. doi:10.1016/j.fishres.2016.12.012

- Tawa, A., T. Kodama, K. Sakuma, T. Ishihara, and S. Ohshimo. 2020. Fine-scale horizontal distributions of multiple species of larval tuna off the Nansei Islands, Japan. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 636: 123–137. doi:https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13216
- Torres, A. P., P. Reglero, R. Balbin, A. Urtizberea, and F. Alemany. 2011. Coexistence of larvae of tuna species and other fish in the surface mixed layer in the NW Mediterranean. Journal of Plankton Research 33: 1793–1812. doi:10.1093/plankt/fbr078
- Uriarte, A., C. Johnstone, R. Laiz-Carrión, and others. 2019. Evidence of densitydependent cannibalism in the diet of wild Atlantic bluefin tuna larvae (*Thunnus thynnus*) of the Balearic Sea (NW-Mediterranean). Fish. Res. **212**: 63–71. doi:10.1016/j.fishres.2018.12.013
- Varela, J. L., J. P. Cañavate, A. Medina, and G. Mourente. 2019. Inter-regional variation in feeding patterns of skipjack tuna (*Katsuwonus pelamis*) inferred from stomach content, stable isotope and fatty acid analyses. Mar. Envir. Res. **152**: 104821. doi:10.1016/j.marenvres.2019.104821
- Watai, M., T. Ishihara, O. Abe, S. Ohshimo, and C. A. Strussmann. 2017. Evaluation of growth-dependent survival during early stages of Pacific bluefin tuna using otolith microstructure analysis. Mar. Freshwater Res. 68: 2008. doi:10.1071/MF16337
- Yúfera, M., J. B. Ortiz-Delgado, T. Hoffman, I. Siguero, B. Urup, and C. Sarasquete.
 2014. Organogenesis of digestive system, visual system and other structures in Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) larvae reared with copepods in mesocosm system. Aquaculture 426–427: 126–137. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.01.031



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the modelled visual radius R_{ij} (m) and clearance rate C_{ij} (m³ s⁻¹) for each predator-prey interaction between piscivorous bluefin tuna larvae (i = 7.5-13 mm) cruising at a speed V_i of 3 body lengths (L_i) s⁻¹ and albacore larvae ($j = \leq 7.4$ mm).


Figure 2. Daily survival probability of albacore (ALB) larvae exposed to increasing densities of piscivorous bluefin tuna (BFT≥7.5 mm SL). a) Orange bars indicate frequency of observed field stations with specific BFT densities (larvae m⁻³) excluding zeros (89.8%); grey lines indicate daily proportion of surviving ALB to increasing BFT density (ΣD_i) given the ALB size structure of each sampled station (n = 1429 stations), solid black line is the mean of all stations, and the dashed black line represents a simulated idealized size-structure (corresponding to the grey bars in panels b-e); white squares set at density $\Sigma D_i = 0.002$, 0.020, 0.080 and 0.168 BFT larvae m⁻³. b-e) Size distributions of a simulated idealized cohort of ALB before (grey bars in the background) and after (black bars) one day of light exposure to four BFT densities $\Sigma D_i = 0.002$ (b), 0.020 (c), 0.080 (d) and 0.168 (e) larvae m⁻³. The proportion of ALB removed in each case is 6 %, 40%, 76%, and 87%, respectively. Red line indicates daily probability of surviving of ALB in each size group. The vertical dotted line is the size-limit of yolk-sack larvae (≤4.1 mm).



Figure 3. Temporal trends on abundances and predatory pressure of bluefin tuna (BFT) and albacore (ALB). Annual mean observed ALB density (blue; mean larvae m⁻³ \pm SE), abundance of piscivorous bluefin tuna (orange; mean larvae m⁻³ \pm SE), percent stations with presence of piscivorous larvae (black); and probability that a vulnerable yolk-sack ALB larva (4.1 mm SL) survive one day in the field considering the density and size-structure of BFT found in each station (red dots).

8. Discussion

"The more I know, the more I realize I know nothing."

Socrates

8.1. Advancing knowledge

Why do bluefin tuna target warm and oligotrophic waters as spawning grounds? What are the benefits? What are the drawbacks? Several decades of research have made good progress towards understanding tuna migratory behavior and ecology (Reglero et al. 2014b, Kitagawa, T & Kimura, S 2015, Muhling et al. 2017). However, many questions regarding the tradeoffs of their reproductive strategy remain open. Understanding trophic interactions of their early life stages can help answering some of these questions, and the work presented in this thesis contributes to advance knowledge in this field (Fig. 8.1).



Figure 9.1. Schematic showing how this thesis has contributed to fill knowledge gaps in tuna larval ecology.

The first step that my collaborators and I have taken for studying trophic interactions of bluefin tuna early life stages is to identify key species that interact with them. Following Gordoa et al. (2013) and Uriarte et. al. (2019) we know that *Pelagia*

noctiluca and albacore are two important ones, which also stand for two groups of organisms in the plankton – invertebrate predators and ichthyoplankton prey, respectively. The second step has been to ensure that we have enough previous knowledge of the biology and ecology of these species to cover basic assumptions of the hypotheses, like knowing their distribution, abundance, and feeding traits. Previous knowledge of bluefin tuna and albacore (Alemany et al. 2010, Alvarez-Berastegui et al. 2018) was enough for the purpose of our analysis, but for *P. noctiluca* some of this information was missing and we developed it in Papers I and II. Only then could we test our hypotheses about trophic interactions.

8.2 New contributions

In **Paper I** my collaborators and I have identified a relation between water temperature and chlorophyll concentration (taken as an indicator of food availability), with spring reproduction and early survival of *P. noctiluca* in the western Mediterranean Sea.

P. noctiluca is a tolerant and opportunistic jellyfish that can thrive in a wide range of conditions. This, combined with erratic dispersal and patchiness further complicates the identification of patterns in the field (e.g. Hecq et al. 2009, Pastor-Prieto et al. 2021). Our capacity to identify patterns resides in three key elements of our data set. 1) Our field collections sample only the top 30 m of the water column, where more than 95% of the ephyrae and metaephyrae are found. By not sampling deeper strata, where they are mostly absent, our collection reduces biased-low densities, and therefore prevents a loss of statistical power. 2) Our 6-year dataset is systematic and spatially extensive. The temporal continuity of this series enables to compare across multiple years with different oceanographic scenarios, and the broad study area of 60 x 90 nautical miles sampled at a relatively fine grid (10 x 10 nautical miles) enables to identify both, patchy and regional trends. 3) The time of sampling is a critical moment in the early survival of P. noctiluca because metabolic demands are increasing with warming temperature and food is becoming scarcer. Sampling later in the season would result in fewer presence and abundance of *P. noctiluca* early life stages (e.g. Pastor-Prieto et al. 2021), reducing the statistical power to identify patterns.

In **Paper II** we have defined 4 stages of development of ephyrae and metaephyrae of *P. noctiluca* that feature increasing capacity to capture prey.

While previous work (Rottini Sandrini & Avian 1983) identified 9 stages of larvae, descriptions of subsequent stages were vague and did not clarify the transition from ephyrae to metaephyrae. For the scope of this work, we were interested in identifying and describing this transition, as it is an important milestone towards being able to effectively capture and eat fish larvae. This information, along with descriptions of stage-morphometry and shrinkage due to formalin preservation, is basic information that can be used in future studies of ecology and biology of *P. noctiluca* early life stages.

In **Paper III** we have found that, despite the high predatory potential of *P. noctiluca* metaephyrae on bluefin tuna eggs and larvae, low overlap between both species prevents metaephyrae to unleash its predatory potential. We have proposed a

mechanism whereby adult bluefin tuna may identify signatures from an oceanographic front and to spawn in sites with reduced invertebrate predation.

The fact that bluefin tuna targets frontal zones for spawning is well documented (García et al. 2005, Teo et al. 2007, Alemany et al. 2010), and the hypothesis that it migrates to warm, oligotrophic systems to favor larval growth and reduce predation was formulated almost two decades ago (Bakun & Broad 2003). However, while the hypothesis that tuna benefits from warm water is well supported, the hypothesis of low predation remains unverified, and no clear reason has been consolidated about the benefits of targeting frontal zones. Based on the results of Paper IV, we observe that the frontal zone delimits a water mass with fewer *P. noctiluca* from another water mass with more of *P. noctiluca* (and by extension other invertebrate predators). Thus, by spawning in or right before the frontal zone, tuna offspring will be less exposed to invertebrate predation. We further speculate that bluefin tuna has developed a sensitivity to the front to prevent high exposure of predators on their offspring and that other bluefin tuna across the world may have developed a similar strategy. Thus, this work lends supports that tuna selects spawning sites that are not just warm, but also have few predators.

In **Paper IV** we have modeled the piscivorous pressure of larval bluefin tuna and compared its temporal trend to the decreasing abundance of larval albacore. Although we could not link a direct cause-effect between the opposing trends in stock abundance, our results show that high densities of piscivorous bluefin tuna have the potential to remove an important number of albacore larvae, reducing its recruitment potential.

The capacity of piscivorous bluefin tuna to remove albacore larvae depends on whether if their spawning sites overlap, which in turn is modulated by the position of the salinity front. While albacore tend to spawn in an area located in the southeast side of the study area, spawning sites of bluefin tuna vary depending on the annual position of the front (Reglero et al. 2012). Thus, years when the position is more advanced (north-eastwards) the degree of overlap is greater than in years when the front is less advanced. One caveat of this analysis is the impossibility to link removals of albacore larvae with its population decline, as there are no current estimates of larval natural morality rate. Thus, although we have evidence that piscivorous bluefin tuna are increasing removals of larval albacore, we cannot conclude that this is causing a recession on the albacore population. What we can affirm is that this increase in albacore removals reduces its recruitment potential.

8.3. Limitations of this study

Evaluating predator-prey relations of animals in natural systems requires to understand a network of complex and variable factors. In open marine systems, acquiring this information is hampered by methodological constraints to obtain the right data at meaningful scales. Therefore, a common approach is to link field observations with biological models to see if they match expectations (Kiørboe 2008). This approach enables to test biological mechanisms in natural systems. However, because it is not an empirical approach, hypotheses cannot be explicitly confirmed.

There is an important difference between demonstrating a process with unequivocal findings and identifying correlations, even when these come from biological models built with empirical data. For marine plankton in natural systems, it is virtually impossible to empirically demonstrate the strength of predator-prey interactions and its effects at population and evolutionary scales. However, combining field observations with biological models based on experiments (Baum & Worm 2009) is a good approach to advance our understanding of natural processes and discard alternative hypotheses.

This approach has several caveats that are inherent to sampling constraints (failing to estimate fine-scale patchiness or top-down effects, net avoidance of larger individuals, etc.), and to the IBM architecture (accuracy of experimentally derived parameters, missing biological variables, etc.). Nonetheless, if the sampling and model design are robust to variation of basic assumptions, it is possible to make inferences about predation in the field and speculate on the predator-prey interaction strength and its ecological implications.

8.4. Future directions

The last frontier of fishery science is to be able to predict annual recruitment of fishes, but despite centuries of research, our capacity to predict changes in fish populations remains limited. Most fishes die during the first days of life, and linking abundances of larvae with the number of surviving recruits is challenging, as processes determining natural mortality are utterly complex. Predation is the major source of fish natural mortality (Bailey & Houde 1989), and poor fish conditions may increase its vulnerability to predators. Thus, paths to better estimate natural mortality can either focus on the mechanisms that make larvae more vulnerable (i.e. feeding condition, slower growth, longer stage-duration, etc) or focus on specific predator-prey interactions.

In this thesis my collaborators and I have combined field observations with biological models to investigate specific predator-prey interactions in the larval stages of a top-predator fish. Because predator-prey experiments with vertebrates are now considered unethical, combining field observations with current experimental knowledge sets a precedent for upcoming research to quantify predator-prey interactions of larval bluefin tuna in the field. Further research will include studying and comparing the interaction strength of bluefin tuna with other predators, refining the vulnerability of larvae to predators as a function of their size and feeding condition, evaluating different behavior upon lunar cycles and light intensity, analyzing the tradeoffs of the spawning phenology, and generating a unifying theory to estimate mortality under different conditions. Because the focus of this thesis is centered in three relatively well studied species, it makes for a good case study of trophic interaction studies between larval fish and invertebrate carnivores and piscivorous larvae. Thus, mechanistic understanding developed in this work about the interaction strength between tuna larvae and an invertebrate predator or another fish prey can be used elsewhere in further studies of predation on fish early life stages.

9. Conclusions

"Just because we cannot see clearly the end of the road, it is no reason for not setting out on the essential journey."

John F Kennedy

- 1) While both, water temperature and food availability determine the threedimensional distribution of *Pelagia noctiluca* early life stages, they are located above and within the shallow thermocline, where warmer temperature favors growth and survival, as opposed to deeper strata, where more food is available, but water is colder.
- 2) Surface chlorophyll concentration of June is a good estimator of *P. noctiluca* early life stage abundance and distribution, despite some mismatch at 10-nautical mile scale. This trend suggests that food availability determines the interannual and spatial pattern of reproductive activity and early survival.
- 3) *P. noctiluca* early life stages are more abundant in the north-west side of the Balearic Islands, where surface chlorophyll concentration of resident Atlantic water depicts greater productivity.
- 4) Four stages of development can be identified on ephyrae and metaephyrae of *P. noctiluca* based on the development of feeding structures. Stage III determines the onset of the metaephyrae stage, when they can effectively feed on larval fish.
- 5) The size of each development stage of *P. noctiluca* early life stages is significantly different from each other, and individuals shrink about 24% after storage in 4% formalin, regardless of their stage of development.
- 6) High densities of *P. noctiluca* metaephyrae can remove a large proportion of Atlantic bluefin tuna (BFT) eggs and larvae before they reach the flexion stage. However, low overlap between both species reduces actual predation.
- 7) The overall low effective predation of metaephyrae on BFT supports the hypothesis that adults migrate to this spawning ground not just to benefit from its warm water, but also to benefit from the low predator pressure on offspring. The spatial mismatch between BFT and *P. noctiluca* metaephyrae, following different oceanographic signatures related to the salinity front, suggests BFT may target the front to reduce predation on their offspring.
- 8) The recovery of the eastern stock of the Atlantic BFT is increasing its potential predator pressure on larval albacore. This interaction is strengthened in years when the position of the salinity front fosters a better match between the spawning sites of both species.
- 9) BFT and albacore have developed different reproductive strategies whereby BFT has a major spawning peak early in season while albacore spawns more extensively over the season. These different strategies provide priority effects to most larval BFT, that can feed on younger albacore.

10. General bibliography

- Alemany F, Quintanilla L, Velez-Belchí P, García A, Cortés D, Rodríguez JM, Fernández de Puelles ML, González-Pola C, López-Jurado JL (2010) Characterization of the spawning habitat of Atlantic bluefin tuna and related species in the Balearic Sea (western Mediterranean). Prog Ocean 86:21–38.
- Alvarez I, Rasmuson LK, Gerard T, Laiz-Carrion R, Hidalgo M, Lamkin JT, Malca E, Ferra C, Torres AP, Alvarez-Berastegui D, Alemany F, Quintanilla JM, Martin M, Rodriguez JM, Reglero P (2021) Influence of the seasonal thermocline on the vertical distribution of larval fish assemblages associated with Atlantic bluefin tuna spawning grounds. Oceans 2:64–83.
- Alvarez-Berastegui D, Saber S, Ingram GW, Díaz-Barroso L, Reglero P, Macías D, García-Barcelona S, de Urbina JO, Tintoré J, Alemany F (2018) Integrating reproductive ecology, early life dynamics and mesoscale oceanography to improve albacore tuna assessment in the Western Mediterranean. Fish Res 208:329–338.
- Bailey KM, Houde ED (1989) Predation on eggs and larvae of marinefishes and the recruitment problem. In: *Advances in Marine Biology*. Elsevier, p 1–83
- Bakun A (2006) Fronts and eddies as key structures in the habitat of marine fish larvae: opportunity, adaptive response and competitive advantage. Scientia Marina 70:105–122.
- Bakun A, Agostini VN (2001) Seasonal patterns of wind-induced upwelling/downwelling in the Mediterranean Sea. Sci Mar 65:243–257.
- Bakun A, Broad K (2003) Environmental "loopholes" and fish population dynamics: comparative pattern recognition with focus on El Nino effects in the Pacific. Fish Ocean 12:458–473.
- Balbín R, López-Jurado JL, Flexas MM, Reglero P, Vélez-Velchí P, González-Pola C, Rodríguez JM, García A, Alemany F (2014) Interannual variability of the early summer circulation around the Balearic Islands: Driving factors and potential effects on the marine ecosystem. J Mar Syst 138:70–81.
- Baum JK, Worm B (2009) Cascading top-down effects of changing oceanic predator abundances. Journal of Animal Ecology 78:699–714.
- Blanco E, Reglero P, Ortega A, de la Gándara F, Folkvord A (2018) Size-selective mortality of laboratory-reared Atlantic bluefin tuna larvae: evidence from microstructure analysis of otoliths during the piscivorous phase. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 509:36–43.
- DeAngelis DL, Grimm V (2014) Individual-based models in ecology after four decades. F1000Prime Rep 6.
- Estrada JA, Lutcavage M, Thorrold SR (2005) Diet and trophic position of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) inferred from stable carbon and nitrogen isotope analysis. Marine Biology 147:37–45.

Fiksen Ø, Reglero P (2021) Atlantic bluefin tuna spawn early to avoid metabolic meltdown in larvae. Ecology:published online.

- Fuiman LA, Werner RG (2002) Fishery science: The unique contributions of early life stages, 1st ed. Blackwell publishing, Iowa.
- García A, Alemany F, Velez-Belchí P, Jurado JLL, Cortés D, Rodríguez JM, Jansá J, Ramírez T (2005) Characterization of the bluefin tuna spawning habitat off the Balearic archipelago in relation to key hydrographyc features and associated environmental conditions. Collect Vol Sci Pap 58(2):535–549.

Garvey JE, Whiles M (2016) Trophic ecology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

- Gleiber MR, Sponaugle S, Cowen RK (2020) Some like it hot, hungry tunas do not! Implications of temperature and plankton food web dynamics on growth and diet of tropical tuna larvae. ICES Journal of Marine Sciences 77:3058–3073.
- Gordoa A, Acuña JL, Farrés R, Bacher K (2013) Burst feeding of *Pelagia noctiluca* ephyrae on Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) eggs. PLoS One 8:e74721.
- Hecq J-H, Goffart A, Colligon A, Plazza S (2009) La variabilité de la méduse Pelagia noctiluca (Forskål, 1775) en Baie de Calvi (Corse) en relation avec l'environnement. Rapport pour Agence de l'Eau Rhône Méditerranée et Corse:1–54.
- Hilder PE, Battaglene SC, Hart NS, Collin SP, Cobcroft JM (2019) Retinal adaptations of southern bluefin tuna larvae: Implications for culture. Aquaculture 507:222– 232.
- Kiørboe T (2008) A mechanistic approach to plankton ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Kitagawa, T, Kimura, S (2015) Biology and ecology of bluefin tuna. CRC Press, Chicago.
- Kodama T (2020) Feeding habits of the Pacific Bluefin tuna (*Thunnus orientalis*) larvae in two nursery grounds based on morphological and metagenomic analyses. Deep Sea Research Part II 175:1–13.
- Krom MD, Kress N, Brenner S, Gordon LI (1991) Phosphorus limitation of primary productivity in the eastern Mediterranean Sea. Limnol Oceanogr 36(3):424–432.
- Lemaitre-Curri E, Tode L (2020) 2020 SoED: State of environment and development in the Mediterranean. UNEP/ MAP-Plan Bleu, Marselle.
- Medina A (2020) Reproduction of Atlantic bluefin tuna. Fish Fish 21:1109–1119.
- Mena C, Reglero P, Ferriol P, Torres AP, Aparicio-González A, Balbín R, Santiago R, Moyà G, Alemany F, Agawin NSR (2016) Prokaryotic picoplankton spatial distribution during summer in a haline front in the Balearic Sea, Western Mediterranean. Hydrobiologia 779:243–257.
- Mena C, Reglero P, Hidalgo M, Sintes E, Santiago R, Martín M, Moyà G, Balbín R (2019) Phytoplankton community structure is driven by stratification in the oligotrophic mediterranean sea. Front Microbiol 10:1–15.
- Muhling BA, Lamkin JT, Alemany F, García A, Farley J, Ingram GW, Berastegui DA, Reglero P, Carrion RL (2017) Reproduction and larval biology in tunas, and the importance of restricted area spawning grounds. Rev Fish Biol Fish 27:697–732.
- Nieblas A-E, Demarcq H, Drushka K, Sloyan B, Bonhommeau S (2014) Front variability and surface ocean features of the presumed southern bluefin tuna spawning grounds in the tropical southeast Indian Ocean. Deep Sea Res Pt II Top Stud Oceanogr 107:64–76.

- Ohshimo S, Tawa A, Ota T, Nishimoto S, Ishihara T, Watai M, Satoh K, Tanabe T, Abe O (2017) Horizontal distribution and habitat of Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, larvae in the waters around Japan. bms 93:769–787.
- Olivar MP, Sabatés A, Alemany F, Balbín R, Fernández de Puelles ML, Torres AP (2014) Diel-depth distributions of fish larvae off the Balearic Islands (western Mediterranean) under two environmental scenarios. J Mar Syst 138:127–138.
- Pastor-Prieto M, Bahamon N, Sabatés A, Canepa A, Gili J-M, Carreton M, Company JB (2021) Spatial heterogeneity of *Pelagia noctiluca* ephyrae linked to water masses in the Western Mediterranean. PLOS ONE:1–18.
- Puelles MF, Gras D, Hernandez-Leon S (2003) Annual cycle of zooplankton biomass, abundance and species composition in the neritic area of the Balearic Sea, Western Mediterranean. Marine Ecology 24:123–139.
- Reglero P, Ciannelli L, Alvarez-Berastegui D, Balbín R, López-Jurado J, Alemany F (2012) Geographically and environmentally driven spawning distributions of tuna species in the western Mediterranean Sea. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 463:273–284.
- Reglero P, Ortega A, Balbín R, Abascal FJ, Medina A, Blanco E, Gándara F de la, Alvarez-Berastegui D, Hidalgo M, Rasmuson L, Alemany F, Fiksen Ø (2018) Atlantic bluefin tuna spawn at suboptimal temperatures for their offspring. Proc R Soc B 285:20171405.
- Reglero P, Ortega A, Blanco E, Fiksen Ø., Viguri FJ, de la Gándara F, Seoka M, Folkvord A (2014a) Size-related differences in growth and survival in piscivorous fish larvae fed different prey types. Aquaculture 433:94–101.
- Reglero P, Tittensor D, Álvarez-Berastegui D, Aparicio-González A, Worm B (2014b) Worldwide distributions of tuna larvae: revisiting hypotheses on environmental requirements for spawning habitats. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 501:207–224.
- Reglero P, Urtizberea A, Torres A, Alemany F, Fiksen Ø (2011) Cannibalism among size classes of larvae may be a substantial mortality component in tuna. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 433:205–219.
- Richardson DE, Marancik KE, Guyon JR, Lutcavage ME, Galuardi B, Lam CH, Walsh HJ, Wildes S, Yates DA, Hare JA (2016) Discovery of a spawning ground reveals diverse migration strategies in Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113:3299–3304.
- Rottini Sandrini L, Avian M (1983) Biological cycle of *Pelagia noctiluca*: morphological aspects of the development from planula to ephyra. Mar Biol 74:169–174.
- Simoncelli S, Fratianni C, Pinardi N, Grandi A, Drudi M, Oddo P, Dobricic S (2014) Mediterranean Sea physical reanalysis (MEDREA 1987-2015) [Data set]. Copernicus Monitoring Environment Marine Service (CMEMS).
- Siokou-Frangou I, Christaki U, Mazzocchi MG, Montresor M, Ribera d'Alcalá M, Vaqué D, Zingone A (2010) Plankton in the open Mediterranean Sea: a review. Biogeosciences 7:1543–1586.
- Stevens A (2010) Predation, herbivory, and parasitism. Nature Education Knowledge 3(10):36.
- Takashina N, Fiksen Ø (2020) Optimal reproductive phenology under size-dependent cannibalism. Ecol Evol 10:4241–4250.
- Tawa A, Kodama T, Sakuma K, Ishihara T, Ohshimo S (2020) Fine-scale horizontal distributions of multiple species of larval tuna off the Nansei Islands, Japan. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 636:123–137.

- Teo SLH, Boustany AM, Block BA (2007) Oceanographic preferences of Atlantic bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, on their Gulf of Mexico breeding grounds. Mar Biol 152:1105–1119.
- Teruzzi A, Bolzon G, Cossarini G, Lazzari P, Salon S, Crise A, Solidoro C (2014) Mediterranean Sea reanalysis (CMEMS MED-Biogeochemistry 1999-2015) [Data set]. Copernicus Marine Environment Monitoring Service (CMEMS).
- Uriarte A, Johnstone C, Laiz-Carrión R, García A, Llopiz JK, Shiroza A, Quintanilla JM, Lozano-Peral D, Reglero P, Alemany F (2019) Evidence of density-dependent cannibalism in the diet of wild Atlantic bluefin tuna larvae (*Thunnus thynnus*) of the Balearic Sea (NW-Mediterranean). Fish Res 212:63–71.
- Winemiller KO, Rose KA (1993) Why Do Most Fish Produce so Many Tiny Offspring? The American Naturalist 142:585–603.
- Wootton JT, Emmerson M (2005) Measurement of interaction strength in nature. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 36:419–444.
- Yúfera M, Ortiz-Delgado JB, Hoffman T, Siguero I, Urup B, Sarasquete C (2014) Organogenesis of digestive system, visual system and other structures in Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) larvae reared with copepods in mesocosm system. Aquaculture 426–427:126–137.
- Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Elphick CS (2010) A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems: Data exploration. Met Ecol Evol 1:3–14.
- Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Walker NJ, Saveliev AA, Smith GM (eds) (2009) Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer, New York, NY.

Appendix 4. Supplementary information to Paper IV

SUPPLEMENTARY METHODS

1.- Field sampling

Sampling took place between June 18 and July 29, coinciding with peak spawning in bluefin tuna (BFT) and the onset of spawning in albacore (ALB). In each survey, we conducted oblique tows with plankton nets at 2 knots cruising speed on a 10x10 nautical-mile grid and deployed a CTD to alternating depths of 350 and 650 m after each tow. From 2001 to 2005, we towed a bongo net of 60-cm mouth diameter and 333 μm mesh-size down to 70 m, and from 2012 to 2017, we towed a larger bongo (90-cm diameter) with 500 μ m mesh-size to only 30 m depth. Bongo frames were always equipped with a depth recorder and flowmeter. The gear and sampling design were changed to optimize captures of larval tunas (both ALB and BFT), which remain close to surface (Reglero et al. 2018a). To compare data collected with both sampling designs, we converted larval densities captured with bongo 60 to its equivalent density with bongo 90 following Álvarez-Berastegui et al (2017), who validated this protocol with sequential tows with both nets in the same station. Post-flexion larvae may have a greater escape rate for bongo 60 than for bongo 90. To evaluate if there is a noticeable difference in the escape rate between these gears, we apply a Welches ttest to test whether if the ratio of post-flexion:total BFT larvae differs using different nets. The result indicates that that there is no significant difference in the ratio of postflexion:total BFT larvae (P = 0.248). Thus, we conclude that the change in sampling gear is unlikely to generate significant bias between the two periods, and our results are robust to this change.

2.- Correction for larval shrinkage in formalin

We randomly selected 366 larvae from the field (preserved in formalin) ranging 1.95 – 6.14 mm SL and grouped them into four development stages, yolk sac larvae (YSL), and three different pre-flexion and flexion stages (F0-F2) as described by Blanco et al. (2019). Then, we regressed their mean size-at-stage against measurements from live larvae (Blanco et al. 2019) and used the equation to convert the lengths of field sampled larvae to their size before preservation. The lower standard length from pre-flexion larvae (F0; 4.2 mm) and the upper standard length of larvae finishing their notochordal flexion (F2; 7.5 mm) were used as limits between YSL/pre-flexion (i.e. first feeding) and flexion/post-flexion (piscivory) stages, respectively (Fig. S1).



Figure S1. Standard lengths (mm) of bluefin tuna larvae preserved in formalin (gray) and back transformed to fresh sizes (black). Dots indicate individual measurements and error bars indicate standard deviations of yolk-sack larvae (YSL) and larvae with increasing notochordal development (F0-2) (Blanco et al. 2019). $L_{Fresh} = 1.06 + 1.09 \times L_{Formalin}$

3.- Sensitivity of probability of capture success to predator-prey relative size proportion

Yolk-sack larvae (\leq 4.1 mm) have limited swimming and evasive abilities (reviewed in Bailey & Houde 1989). Therefore, we assume piscivorous bluefin tuna (BFT) \geq 7.5 mm will always succeed capturing yolk-sack larvae. On the other hand, larger prey (4.2-7.4 mm) progressively develop their vision and fins (Yúfera et al. 2014), improving their capacity to escape predators. Larger BFT larvae also have better ability to maneuver and capture prey, so we model probability of capture success P_{ij} from relative predator-prey lengths *i* and *j*, respectively, where P_{ij} is close to 1 for ALB first feeders and decreases with greater size (Folkvord & Hunter 1986).

As prey, we simulate a size-structured larval ALB cohort that follows a rightskewed gaussian density distribution emulating an idealized cohort of ALB samples from the surveys. As predators, we introduce 8 and 10 mm long BFT larvae at densities $D_i = 0.005$ larvae m⁻³ each (Fig. S2). To calculate the probability S_{ij} that prey within each size bin will survive one day of exposure to each of these predators we apply the model $S_{ij} = exp^{-E_{ij} \times P_{ij} \times h}$, as defined in the main text.

We conduct a sensitivity analysis of how the shape coefficient k of Equation 1 affects the probability of capture success and one day survival. If ALB is unable to escape BFT at encounter (k = 0), the probability of capture success P_{ij} is always 1 and survival declines with ALB body length simply because larger larvae can be detected at a greater distance (Fig. S2a-b) and encounter rate is higher (Bailey & Houde 1989). If larvae after first feeding are more likely to escape an encounter (k>0), survival tends to increase with size because larger ALB improve their visual, swimming and escaping abilities (Fig S2c-h). Consequently, in our baseline model ALB prey is most vulnerable at 4.1 mm body length (Fig. S2f), the largest yolk-sack stage before first feeding. This agrees with experimental work (Bailey & Houde 1989, Litvak & Leggett 1992).

Larval BFT are formidable piscivorous predators that can kill and eat conspecific larvae that are larger than half their size (Ishibashi et al. 2013). Applying a k = 10 in our equation of capture success enable piscivorous BFT larvae to start preying on ALB at a predator:prey size ratio ~2 and rapidly increase capture success as this ratio increase (Fig. S3). This rapid increase is consistent with Miller et all (1988), who after reviewing how predator:prey relative size affected the probability of capture success among different fish larvae (and crustaceans) found that small predators are more sensible to changes in prey size than large predators. On average, they found that predators start to capture prey when they are about 2.5 times larger than their prey, and capture success rapidly increases with small increments of predator:prey size ratio. Some fish species can start capturing prey at predator:prey <2.5 and none of them had such early piscivorous behavior as BFT. Thus, a k = 10 fits piscivorous expectations for BFT. The model is robust to larger k values, as probability of capture success and density of surviving ALB are only weakly affected by larger values of k (Fig. S2).



Fig. S2. Sensitivity of *k* on probability of (a) capture success *P* and how predation shapes the size distribution of prey over one day (b-h). Panels b-h show albacore density distributions before (grey bars) and after (black bars) the exposure to two predator size-classes in one day. Red and blue lines indicate the length-dependent probability of survival from 8- and 10-mm larval BFT predators both with density $D_i = 0.005$ larvae m⁻³. Gray dotted lines indicate the limit of yolk-sack larvae (≤ 4.1 mm) and piscivorous larvae (i.e. post-flexion larvae; ≥ 7.5 mm).



Figure S3. Size-dependent capture success of larval bluefin tuna 7.5-13 mm SL with *k* = 10 (black line) compared to average capture success from other fishes ranging 17-135 mm SL (red line; Miller et al. 1988). Blue lines indicate range of capture success for each albacore larvae 3.4-7.4 mm SL at a 0.1 mm size interval.

4.- Sensitivity of visual prey detection distance, and clearance rate

Visual prey detection radius R_{ij} (m) is squared in the model for predator-prey encounters, where *i* and *j* are predator and prey size-tags, respectively. We find the volume searched for prey per unit time, or a predators' clearance rate (m³h⁻¹) as $C_{ij} = 0.5\pi R_{ij}^2 (V_j^2 + 3V_i^2)/3V_i^2$ (Fig. S4). Clearance rate depends on factors related to visual acuity, prey size and shape, predator search area (Fig. 2) and light (here limited to day and night).



Figure S4. The effect on a) visual radius and b) clearance rate of shifting parameter values 30% up or down from our basic values. The crossing point represents the visual baseline of an 8 mm bluefin tuna (BFT) searching for a 4.1 mm albacore (ALB).

5.- Standardized size-structure of an idealized cohort of piscivorous BFT

The idealized size-structure is obtained fitting a function to the maximum densities observed for each size group *i* in the field. Size-specific densities D_i decline from 0.032 to 0.001 larvae m⁻³ at 7.5 mm and 13 mm SL, respectively (Fig. S5). To describe and approximate this cohort at a given time, we fit an equation to the maximum density of each size-group, so that $D_i = 0.0005 + 0.0315^{0.926 \times i}$ where *i* ranges 0-55 size groups. Then, we multiply D_i by a sequence of values $\theta = 0 - 0.375$ so the total density of BFT larvae ΣD_i range from 0 (no predation) to 0.168 larvae m⁻³ (maximum density observed in the field). The value of $\theta = 0.375$ is obtained dividing 0.168/ ΣD_i .



Figure S5. Idealized density distribution of *T. thynnus* (BFT) size-classes 7.5-13 mm SL from the surveys (dots), and the fitted maximum number *D_i* calculated for each size class (bars).

6.- Density distribution of albacore larvae



Fig. S6. Frequency distribution of albacore density collected in all stations. Zero values (66.7%) are excluded.

7.- Probability of dying in one day



Figure S7. Probability that an albacore larva 4.1 mm SL will die (1 – probability of survival) in 1 day of exposure to observed piscivorous bluefin tuna.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alvarez-Berastegui, D., G. W. Ingram, P. Reglero, and C. Ferrà. 2017. Changes of bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) larvae fishing methods over time in the Western Mediterranean, calibration and larval indices updating. ICAT SCRS/2017/033.
- Bailey, K. M., and E. D. Houde. 1989. Predation on eggs and larvae of marinefishes and the recruitment problem, p. 1–83. *In* Advances in Marine Biology. Elsevier.
- Blanco, E., P. Reglero, A. Hernández de Rojas, A. Ortega, F. de la Gándara, and A. Folkvord. 2019. The effect of nutritional condition by two nucleic acid derived indices on the growth to post-flexion of Atlantic bluefin tuna and Atlantic bonito larvae. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **519**: 151182. doi:10.1016/j.jembe.2019.151182
- Folkvord, A., and J. R. Hunter. 1986. Size-specific vulnerability of northern anchovy, *Engraulis mordax*, larvae to predation by fishes. Fishery Bulletin **84**: 859–869.
- Ishibashi, Y., T. Miki, Y. Sawada, and M. Kurata. 2013. Effects of feeding conditions and size differences on aggressive behaviour and cannibalism in the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck and Schlegel) larvae. Aquac. Res. 45: 45–53. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2012.03203.x
- Litvak, M., and W. Leggett. 1992. Age and size-selective predation on larval fishes: the bigger-is-better hypothesis revisited. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. **81**: 13–24. doi:10.3354/meps081013
- Miller, T. J., L. B. Crowder, J. A. Rice, and E. A. Marschall. 1988. Larval Size and Recruitment Mechanisms in Fishes: Toward a Conceptual Framework. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 45: 1657–1670. doi:10.1139/f88-197
- Reglero, P., E. Blanco, F. Alemany, and others. 2018. Vertical distribution of Atlantic bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* and bonito *Sarda sarda* larvae is related to temperature preference. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. **594**: 231–243. doi:10.3354/meps12516
- Yúfera, M., J. B. Ortiz-Delgado, T. Hoffman, I. Siguero, B. Urup, and C. Sarasquete.
 2014. Organogenesis of digestive system, visual system and other structures in Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) larvae reared with copepods in mesocosm system. Aquaculture 426–427: 126–137. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.01.031